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At the end of 2010, the
unemployment rate in
the United States was 9.4
percent. This number
represents enormous pain

for many Americans.

As a policymaker,

I find it hard to see
numbers like these without
wanting to do something

about them.
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William Dudley
summarized the job of the

Federal Reserve in this way:

“Congress has set an
explicit objective for
monetary policy:

To pursue the highest level
of employment consistent

with price stability.”

I like this elegant

formulation a great deal.
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President’s
Message

At the end of 2010, the unemployment rate in the United

States was 9.4 percent.! This was lower than its recent

i

2009 peak of over 10 percent, but still higher than at any
other time since the early 1980s. Even more disturbingly, nearly half of those who were unem-
ployed had been without a job for over six months—a number without precedent since World
War II. These numbers represent enormous pain for many Americans. And they represent a
huge amount of lost output for the country, as millions of Americans who want to work are
unable to do so. As a policymaker, I find it hard to see numbers like these without wanting to
do something about them.

But every U.S. policymaker has constraints imposed upon him or her by statute or regula-
tion. (Which, I might add, is a very good thing!) In a recent speech, William Dudley, president
of the Federal Reserve Bank of New York and vice-chair of the Federal Open Market
Committee, summarized the job of the Federal Reserve in this way: “Congress has set an
explicit objective for monetary policy: To pursue the highest level of employment consistent
with price stability””2 I like this elegant formulation a great deal. It says that Congress wants the
Federal Reserve to make choices that will keep unemployment low insofar as those choices
generate inflation that is neither too high nor too low.

But implementing this formulation of the Federal Reserve’s job immediately confronts us

with some practical difficulties. I think about Congress’ mandate of price stability as requiring

1 Prepared using data through April 2011.

2 Dudley, William C. 2011. “The Road to Recovery: Hudson Valley” Remarks at the Dutchess County Regional
Chamber of Commerce, Fishkill, N.Y., May 20. Online at newyorkfed.org.



I argue that this information
about 2010 inflation, and

its rate of change, signals
that the Federal Reserves
highly accommodative policy
was indeed appropriate

at the end of 2010.
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the Federal Reserve to follow policies that will give rise to an average annual inflation rate of
2 percent over the next three to four years. What exactly is the highest level of employment
consistent with that definition of price stability? The answer to that question would be easy to
estimate if that maximum employment level remained constant over time, but the high-
inflation, high-unemployment period of the 1970s taught us that it does not.

In the Annual Report essay that follows, I discuss how policymakers can use real-time data
to make monetary policy choices that allow them to achieve the “highest level of employment
consistent with price stability” My main conclusion is that data on aggregate labor market
quantities like unemployment and job openings are highly imperfect guides to the making of
monetary policy in the context of an ever-changing macroeconomy. Fortunately, I do find that
data on the rate of change of inflation can be a useful supplementary source of information.

Along those lines, over the course of 2010, PCE (personal consumption expenditure)
inflation was near 1 percent (whether food and energy are included or not). The rate of change
of inflation was low, because 1 percent was well below 2009 inflation and well below what
inflation was expected to be in 2011. The level of inflation was also low compared with the
target inflation rate of 2 percent that I mentioned earlier. In the Annual Report essay, I argue
that this information about 2010 inflation, and its rate of change, signals that the Federal
Reserve’s highly accommodative policy of low interest rates and large-scale asset purchases
was indeed appropriate at the end of 2010.

Of course, conditions change. What was appropriate at the end of 2010 may no longer be
appropriate in 2011. I will be watching the evolution of inflation during 2011 carefully. But

that is a subject for a future Annual Report essay.

%;W%M

Narayana Kocherlakota

President



“Congress has set an explicit objective
for monetary policy:



To pursue the highest level of employment
consistent with price stability.”
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Narayana Kocherlakota™
President

The U.S. economy is perpetually buffeted by shocks. These shocks
can be negative: The price of oil may rise unexpectedly. Or they can be positive: The price of
oil might fall unexpectedly. The Federal Open Market Committee’s main goal is to figure out
how monetary policy should react to these positive and negative shocks and the resultant
fluctuations in unemployment and inflation so as best to achieve the Federal Reserve’s dual
mandate of maximum employment and price stability. It may seem tempting to use the tools
of monetary policy to eliminate any notable increase in unemployment. But when the Federal
Reserve tried this approach in the 1970s, it generated “stagflation”—high unemployment
together with high inflation. Following this experience, macroeconomists have done a large
amount of research that has yielded a sharper understanding of what changes in the macro-

economy should in fact trigger monetary policy responses.

*The author thanks Douglas Clement, David Fettig, Terry Fitzgerald, Robert Shimer, and Kei-Mu Yi for their comments.
Prepared using data through April 2011.
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The impact of any macroeconomic shock can
be divided into two components.

One component is the effect of the natural
demand and supply adjustments that would
occur if prices and their expectations were to
adjust continuously. Monetary policy cannot
be used to offset this natural consequence of
the shock without the risk of inflation being
too high or too low.

The other component is the consequence
of what economists call nominal rigidities.
Monetary policy can be used to offset this
latter component without creating undue
pressures on inflation.

The challenge for monetary policymakers
is to figure out how to divide the observed
movements in the unemployment rate into
these two components.
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The results of this research are best understood through an example. Suppose that the cost
of energy rises suddenly. This increase influences the economy through rather standard
demand-and-supply forces. With higher input costs, firms cut back on production and
demand less labor, creating higher unemployment. The first lesson from the modern macro-
economic research is that trying to use monetary policy to eliminate this increase in unem-
ployment, generated by the firms’ natural market response to changes in input costs, leads to
rates of inflation that are too high relative to the Federal Reserve’s price stability mandate.

But the modern macroeconomic research also emphasizes that this standard demand-and-
supply story captures only part of the effects of the energy price shock. Implicitly, the standard
story assumes that the fall in labor demand triggers an immediate fall in wages. This assump-
tion is contradicted by considerable evidence that firms are often unwilling to cut wages by
much in response to shocks. Since wages don't fall sufficiently quickly in response to the
change in energy prices, firms cut back even more on labor, and unemployment is even higher
than would be implied by the standard demand-and-supply story.

The second lesson from the modern macroeconomic research is that accommodative mon-
etary policy can offset this additional increase in unemployment, caused by sluggish wage
adjustment, without generating unduly high inflation. Intuitively, the additional increase in
unemployment occurs only because of the downward pressure on wages, which eventually
manifests itself as downward pressure on prices of goods. Accommodative monetary policy is
able to offset this increase in unemployment and keep inflation from being too low.

This story about the consequences of a change in energy prices is only an example, but its
lessons apply much more generally. The impact of any macroeconomic shock can be divided
into two components. One component is the effect of the natural demand and supply adjust-
ments that would occur if prices and their expectations were to adjust continuously. Monetary
policy cannot be used to offset this natural consequence of the shock without creating infla-
tion that is either too high or too low. The other component is the consequence of what econ-
omists call nominal rigidities—the sluggish adjustment of prices (including wages, the price of
labor) and price expectations. Monetary policy can be used to offset this latter component of
the shock’s impact without creating undue pressures on inflation. The challenge for monetary
policymakers is to figure out how to divide the observed movements in the unemployment
rate into these two components.

This problem is a central one in the current policy environment. As of the end of 2010, the
unemployment rate in the United States was 9.4 percent. That’s well above its December 2007
level (5 percent) and well above where I expect it to be in five years (also 5 percent). The high
unemployment rate is extremely painful for many Americans and deserves to be near or at the
top of every policymaker’s agenda. However, the above discussion reminds policymakers that
in trying to lower unemployment, they need to be cognizant of the limitations of their tools.

With that in mind, in the remainder of this essay, I will ask the following question: How
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much of the current high rate of unemployment is attributable to the sluggish adjustment of
prices and their expectations—that is, to nominal rigidities? My strategy is to use a simple but
widely used economic model of unemployment to analyze the aggregate data on unemploy-
ment and job openings. Not surprisingly, these data reveal that job openings are low and
unemployment is high. But the simple model shows that this basic fact is consistent with two
distinct interpretations, with two distinct implications for monetary policy.

The first possibility is that the low rate of job creation is due to nominal rigidities. If firms
have not lowered prices and/or wages sufficiently, then job creation will be low and unem-
ployment will be high. Monetary policy should be highly accommodative in response to this
kind of increase in unemployment. However, it is also possible that the low level of job
creation may be attributable to other factors (like higher expected tax rates in the coming
years). It is not possible to redress this latter kind of shortfall in job creation without an
adverse impact on price stability.

Since the data on aggregate labor market quantities provide ambiguous guidance for policy,
I turn to information about inflation. I argue that these data are a better guide to determining
an appropriate stance for monetary policy. Specifically, as of the end of 2010, the rate of inflation
was near a 50-year low. Such a low rate of inflation justifies the highly accommodative monetary
policy set by the Federal Reserve at that time. In future monetary policy deliberations, I expect
to pay close attention to incoming data on inflation, and especially to data on core inflation
(the rate if increase of prices in goods and services other than food and energy). These data

appear to be a better guide to the proper course of policy than labor market data.

A SIMPLE FORMULA FOR THE BENEFITS OF CREATING
A JOB OPENING

In large part, unemployment is currently high because firms are creating relatively few job
openings or vacancies. In this section, I build on this observation and use a particular
economic model to analyze the sources of low creation of job openings. The model is based
on the research of Peter Diamond, Dale Mortensen, and Christopher Pissarides that earned
them the Nobel Prize in economics in 2010. The model delivers a surprisingly simple formu-
la for the expected benefits of creating a job opening that demonstrates why those benefits
may have changed over time.

In the Diamond-Mortensen-Pissarides (DMP) model, firms decide whether to pay a given
cost to create a job opening. This cost includes, among other things, clarifying the job respon-
sibilities and specific tasks, formulating a recruiting strategy, advertising, screening applicants,
and the like. I'll label this cost with the letter k.

The firm creates a new opening if its cost k is smaller than the firm’s expected benefit from
doing so. That benefit depends on three variables within the model. The first variable is the



What shapes the benefit of creating a job in the DMP model?
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Benefit

The firm is the decision
maker. Should it pay
the cost to create a
vacancy?

Answer: It will if the
cost is less than the

Unemployment-
Vacancy Ratio

The unemployment rate
divided by the vacancy
rate. The benefit is high
when the ratio is high,
because there are more

Productivity (after-tax)
If productivity is high,
there is more profit to
the firm from hiring.
Corporate, personal,
and sales taxes
reduce after-tax

Utility

The worker’s utility,
from not working—
such as receiving
unemployment
insurance.

and better choices
available—and for
a lower wage.

e

1—/ x (p-z) x constant

benefit. productivity.

B

ratio %, that is, the unemployment rate () divided by the vacancy rate (v).! There are two
reasons why the firm’s benefit from creating a job opening is likely to be high when the ratio
4 is high. First, when % is high, that means there are a lot of unemployed people per job open-
ing and, all else equal, a firm has a better chance of attracting a qualified applicant. Second,
when 4 is high, unemployed workers know that there is a great deal of competition for avail-
able jobs, and they are more willing to accept lower wages.

A second variable that affects the benefit of creating a job opening is the worker’s expected
after-tax productivity p. It is intuitive that if the worker’s productivity is high, then—for any
given wage—the firm gets a higher profit from hiring the worker, making creating a job opening
more attractive to the company. But it’s important to emphasize that the benefits of higher
productivity can be undercut by a wide variety of taxes. For example, if corporate income taxes
are high, then, for any given wage paid to the worker, the owners of the firm receive a small-

er fraction of the worker’s output. If personal income taxes rise, then the worker’s take-home



The Region

pay falls, given any wage that the firm pays; hence, the firm needs to pay a higher wage to
attract a qualified worker. Even sales taxes influence after-tax productivity, because they
reduce demand for the firm’s product.

The final variable in the DMP model that affects the firm’s benefit from creating a job
opening is the worker’s utility z from not working. When z is high, the firm has to pay a higher
wage to a qualified applicant to induce that applicant to take the job. Hence, a high value of z
lowers the firm’s benefit from creating a job opening. The utility z comes from many sources.
In the discussion below, I focus on the utility that an unemployed person receives from the
unemployment insurance benefits provided by the government.

At this point, I have talked about these three factors (the unemployment-vacancy ratio,
after-tax productivity, and the utility from not working) in a purely intuitive fashion. The
beauty of the DMP model is that it allows me to quantify the impact of these three factors on
the benefit of job creation. In particular, given the three factors 4, p, and z, the model pro-

vides a simple formula for the firm'’s benefit B from creating a job opening:?

u
B = 5 X (p-z) X constant

This simple formula provides a way to assess whether job creation is weak because of sluggish
adjustment in prices and inflation expectations (that is, nominal rigidities) or because of other

forces.

INFORMATION IN THE UNEMPLOYMENT
AND VACANCIES DATA

In this section, I apply the formula from the DMP model (for the benefits of creating a job
opening) to aggregate data on unemployment and vacancies to analyze the sources of low job
creation in late 2010. I find that the analysis is ambiguous in terms of its policy implications.
On the one hand, it is possible that much of the unemployment is due to the presence of nom-
inal rigidities. Monetary policy should then be highly accommodative. On the other hand, it
is also possible that much of the unemployment is due to changes in expected after-tax pro-
ductivity and unemployment insurance benefits. Monetary policy should then be at most
slightly accommodative. My main conclusion is that the data on unemployment and vacancies
are not all that useful in guiding monetary policy.

I begin in December 2007, at the beginning of the Great Recession. The U.S. unemploy-
ment rate was 5 percent. At the same time, the vacancy rate was 3.1 percent.3 Three years later,
in December 2010, the unemployment rate was considerably higher at 9.4 percent and the
vacancy rate was considerably lower at 2.2 percent. The 4 ratio had more than doubled.

Indeed, assuming no changes in p or z, the DMP formula described above implies that the
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firm’s expected benefit from creating a job opening increased by 165 percent. This striking
observation gives rise to a central question: Given the enormous rise in the benefits of creating
job openings, why weren’t firms creating more of them?

A common answer to this question is that firms face “insufficient aggregate demand”
According to this story, firms do not believe that they can sell more than they currently pro-
duce and see no reason to hire more workers. But this seemingly obvious explanation relies on
the assumption that firms cannot or will not simultaneously cut their prices to generate more
demand. In other words, “insufficient demand” is essentially code for the kinds of nominal
rigidities that I discussed above. Thus, if I agree that firms are not creating job openings
because of insufficient demand, then there is a need for highly accommodative monetary pol-
icy—that is, low interest rates and/or purchases of long-term government-issued assets.

But the DMP model suggests two other possible reasons that firms are not creating job

openings. Recall the equation for the benefits of creating a job opening:

u
B = 5 X (p-z) x constant

As just discussed, 4 rose 165 percent from December 2007 to December 2010. What hap-
pened to the other two terms in the equation? There are good reasons to believe that expected
after-tax productivity p fell. Over the past three years, the U.S. economy has experienced large
increases in the federal budget deficits, contributing substantially to the overall federal debt.
In addition, many states and municipalities are facing budgetary challenges. It is natural for
firms to expect that these budget challenges at all levels of government may be met at least par-
tially by future increases in tax rates. Both in the model and in reality, firms know that hiring
a worker is a multiyear commitment, and so what matters for that decision is productivity, net
of taxes, over the medium term of the next several years. If firms expect to face higher taxes
in this time frame, then their measure of p has fallen.

What about the utility that a person derives from not working? In response to the reces-
sion, the federal government extended the duration of unemployment insurance benefits.
Thus, it is plausible that z has risen in the past three years. This increase—in and of itself—
means that firms must offer higher wages. It serves to undercut the downward pressure on
wages induced by the high value of 4 that I already mentioned.

I can make this discussion more specific by putting some tentative numbers into the DMP
model’s formula for the benefits from creating a job opening. Reasonable estimates for after-
tax productivity and utility from not working just before the onset of the Great Recession set
p=1 and z=0.73.% Now suppose that, for the reasons just mentioned, p fell by 10 percent in the
past three years and z increased by 0.05 during this period. These are large changes, but they
are not implausible (especially given the wide range of taxes that can affect p). These changes

in p and z offset the large increase in the ratio 4, so that the benefits from job creation rise
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Unemployment and vacancies data provide
highly ambiguous guidance about the
appropriate stance of monetary policy.

What other sources of information can
monetary policymakers use? In thinking about
this question, I need to keep in mind that
policy should be highly accommodative if,

and only if, much of the observed unemployment
is due to nominal rigidities. So I need information
about the importance of such rigidities.

More colloquially,

| need to figure out the importance of low
aggregate demand in generating the
observed high unemployment rate.
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by only 18 percent, not 165 percent. In this scenario, nominal rigidities are playing a much less
important role in suppressing the creation of job openings. Correspondingly, monetary poli-
cy should be considerably less accommodative.

I can translate this discussion about the benefits of job creation into an analogous one
about unemployment itself by comparing the current rate of unemployment to what econo-
mists refer to as the natural rate of unemployment. The natural rate of unemployment is the
rate of unemployment that would prevail in an artificial textbook economy in which prices
and wages adjusted instantly. If the actual unemployment rate is well above the natural rate,
then nominal rigidities are playing a big role in generating unemployment, and monetary pol-
icy should be highly accommodative. Conversely, if the actual unemployment rate is near the
natural rate, highly accommodative monetary policy is not appropriate.

While I won't go through the details here, the DMP model provides a way to compute the
natural rate of unemployment u*.> When I apply this method to data on unemployment and
vacancies, I find that, as my earlier discussion suggested, these data provide little information
about u*. If after-tax productivity p and utility from not working z have not changed since
December 2007, then u* may be as low as 5.8 percent. However, if (p—z) has fallen by 0.15,
then the implied u* is 8.7 percent. This is indeed a wide range of possibilities.

Let me summarize what I've discussed so far. The unemployment-vacancies ratio increased
by a factor of 2.65 between December 2007 and December 2010. By itself, this suggests that
nominal rigidities have constrained job creation and that the natural unemployment rate is
well below the actual unemployment rate. However, it also seems plausible that after-tax pro-
ductivity has fallen and/or the utility from not working has risen. If these changes are as large
as I have described above, then they suggest that firms’ benefits from creating job openings are
much lower, and so nominal rigidities are not the major constraint on job creation.

The bottom line from this analysis is that the aggregate unemployment and vacancies data
are highly inconclusive about the natural rate of unemployment. From a monetary policy per-
spective, therefore, these data are not informative about the appropriate level of policy accom-
modation. Of course, I have viewed these data through the lens of a specific model: the DMP
model. This model is generally regarded as a useful way to think about unemployment—and
that’s why it earned Diamond, Mortensen, and Pissarides the Nobel Prize. But it is, after all,
just one of many possible models of unemployment. Would I achieve a sharper conclusion
about the role of nominal rigidities if I used a different, possibly more complicated, model of
unemployment?

I suspect that the answer to this question is no. The DMP model delivers an ambiguous
answer about the role of nominal rigidities because I lacked data on the changes in key model
elements, like expected after-tax productivity. Even in more complicated models, these miss-
ing data would still be problematic. Indeed, more complicated models would—quite rightly—

bring more mechanisms into play. These additional mechanisms would be additional sources



The Region

If nominal rigidities are responsible for
high unemployment, then insufficient
aggregate demand should be pushing
downward on inflation.

This effect shows up in the prices of all
goods and services. However, it is harder
to discern in the prices of food and energy
goods and services, because those prices
adjust rapidly to transitory shocks that are

specific to those markets.

Hence, | believe that | can best gauge the
state of aggregate demand by looking at
core inflation—that Is, inflation measured
without the prices of food and energy.
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of ambiguity unless I had good data about their evolution over the past three years. In my view,
additional sources of data are likely to prove more useful than additional models in clarifying
the ambiguity about the role of nominal rigidities.® In the next section, I describe some addi-

tional data that can be of use.

OTHER DATA

Unemployment and vacancies data provide highly ambiguous guidance about the appropriate
stance of monetary policy. What other sources of information can monetary policymakers
use? In thinking about this question, I need to keep in mind that policy should be highly
accommodative if, and only if, much of the observed unemployment is due to nominal rigidi-
ties. So I need information about the importance of such rigidities. More colloquially, I need
to figure out the importance of low aggregate demand in generating the observed high unem-
ployment rate.

Surveys of businesses about impediments to job creation can provide valuable information
about this issue. Some of these surveys are formal, like that conducted by the National
Federation of Independent Businesses. In my role as Federal Reserve Bank president, I sup-
plement these formal surveys with informal enquiries to business people, such as, “What fac-
tors prevent you from creating more jobs?” During 2010, in both formal and informal surveys,
the most common response was “insufficient demand,” with the next most common being
“taxes” and “regulations.” This evidence is very loose, of course, but it does suggest that low
demand—that is, nominal rigidities—was playing a significant role in generating the high
unemployment rate in 2010.

A more compelling piece of information is data about inflation itself. If nominal rigidities
are responsible for high unemployment, then insufficient aggregate demand should be push-
ing downward on inflation. This effect shows up in the prices of all goods and services.
However, it is harder to discern in the prices of food and energy goods and services, because
those prices adjust rapidly to transitory shocks that are specific to those markets. Hence, I
believe that I can best gauge the state of aggregate demand by looking at core inflation—that
is, inflation measured without the prices of food and energy.

But the exact impact of aggregate demand on core inflation depends on how prices are set
and inflation expectations formed. In the economic models developed in the 1960s, low aggre-
gate demand decreases inflation this year relative to what it was last year, so what matters is
how inflation changes over time. The newer economic models, developed over the past 10 to
15 years, are more forward-looking. Low aggregate demand manifests itself by generating low
inflation this year relative to expected inflation next year.

These different approaches to computing the importance of low aggregate demand—one

comparing current to past inflation and the other gauging current inflation against future
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As always, monetary policy will need to
evolve in response to ongoing shocks and
new information.

But | suspect that information about aggregate
labor market quantities like unemployment
will remain—at best—a noisy indicator about
the appropriate stance of policy.

Instead, | will be paying close attention
to the behavior of core inflation.
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expected inflation—can, in principle, arrive at very different conclusions. However, this was
not the case at the end of 2010. From the fourth quarter of 2009 through the fourth quarter
of 2010, inflation based on the personal consumer expenditures component of GDP and
excluding food and energy (core PCE inflation) was 0.8 percent (annualized). This is the
lowest observation seen for this series in the past 50 years. It is low compared with the 2009
observation of core PCE inflation (1.7 percent from the fourth quarter of 2008 to the fourth
quarter of 2009). And it is low compared with future core PCE inflation, which was expected
to be between 1 percent and 1.5 percent over the course of 2011. So both new and old models
linking inflation and unemployment suggest that, as of the end of 2010, nominal rigidities
were an important source of unemployment.

This analysis relies on the rate of change of inflation to reach conclusions about the sources
of unemployment. It is also true that the level of inflation was low, compared with the 2 percent
level that I view as consistent with the Federal Reserve’s price stability mandate. Both of these
factors lead to the same conclusion: Accommodative monetary policy was appropriate at the
end of 2010.7

CONCLUSION

Is the unemployment rate high because of nominal rigidities, or is it high because of other
factors? That is a central question that confronts monetary policymakers seeking to set the
appropriate course of monetary policy. In this essay, I've argued that data on aggregate labor
market variables like unemployment rates and vacancies are insufficient to reach a sharp
answer. Other information, including survey responses and inflation data, suggests that
nominal rigidities are having a substantial impact. This conclusion, combined with the
low level of inflation itself, implies that it is appropriate for monetary policy to be highly
accommodative—as indeed it was at the end of 2010.

As always, monetary policy will need to evolve in response to ongoing shocks and new
information. But I suspect that information about aggregate labor market quantities like
unemployment will remain—at best—a noisy indicator about the appropriate stance of policy.
Instead, I will be paying close attention to the behavior of core inflation. As the preceding
analysis suggests, the changes in this variable appear to provide critical information about
the empirical relevance of nominal rigidities, and therefore about the appropriate stance of

monetary policy.
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ENDNOTES

1 The vacancy, or job openings, rate is computed by the Bureau of Labor Statistics by dividing the number of job

openings by the sum of employment and job openings. Go to http://www.bls.gov/news.release/jolts.tn.htm.
2 For technical notes on the derivation of this approximation, see Kocherlakota (2011).
3 See the Job Openings and Labor Turnover Survey (JOLTS) data at http://www.bls.gov/news.release/jolts.toc.htm.

4 See Mortensen and Nagypal (2007). Note that these values are normalizations; what matters is the difference

between p and z.

> Unemployed people were finding jobs at a much lower rate in December 2010 than in December 2007.

This decline in their rate of finding jobs is partly attributable to the fact that there are so many fewer job openings
per unemployed person. However, the decline is actually greater than can be explained through this factor alone.

It appears that labor markets have become less effective at creating matches between job openings and qualified
applicants. The estimates of the natural rate of unemployment in the text incorporate this fall in what economists
term “labor market matching efficiency” See Kocherlakota (2011). (The Kocherlakota notes have a slightly different
range of possible values for the natural rate of unemployment. Those estimates are based on JOLTS data as

of March 4, 2011. The numbers in the text use updated JOLTS data from May 2011.)

6 With that said, it may well be useful to use both new models and other data sources. Along those lines, I find the
work of Gali, Smets, and Wouters (2011) to be potentially important. They estimate a New Keynesian model of
unemployment using post-World War II U.S. aggregate data through the end of 2010. Their model abstracts from
distorting taxes and unemployment insurance (although it allows for unobservable shifters to labor supply). They

find that nominal rigidities were playing a significant role in generating the observed level of unemployment in 2010.

7 As I note above, the prices of food and energy goods and services are highly responsive to shocks that are specific
to those markets, and for that reason, I've couched my argument in terms of core inflation. However, like core infla-
tion, headline inflation over the course of 2010 was near a half-century low and had fallen sharply since 2009.
Hence, I would have reached the same conclusion about the appropriateness of accommodative monetary policy

had I applied my analysis to headline inflation instead of core inflation.
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Message
from the
First Vice President

Over the next few years, the Federal Reserve System

(System) faces a complex, dynamic, and uncertain out-

look as it seeks to fulfill its mission to foster the stability,
integrity, and efficiency of the nation’s monetary, financial, and payments systems in order to
promote optimal economic performance.

The financial crisis that began in 2007 revealed vulnerabilities in markets and specific insti-
tutions, requiring policy responses on a scope and scale that would have been hard to imagine
previously. With the passage of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection
Act (Dodd-Frank Act) on July 21, 2010, attention has shifted to the enormous implementation
challenge. The Dodd-Frank Act, recognizing the pivotal role played by the System in responding
to the crisis, expands the System’s responsibilities in numerous ways while limiting some author-
ities, reinforcing transparency, and expanding review mechanisms. The sheer volume of regula-
tory rule making that must be accomplished over the next two years has little, if any, precedent
in System history.

Against this backdrop, the Federal Reserve Bank of Minneapolis (Bank) will continue to seek
opportunities to leverage its strengths in making important System contributions while at the
same time pursuing financial and operational strategies directed at ensuring that all System
objectives are met efficiently and with high quality.

In the supervision and regulation area, the Dodd-Frank Act bestows on the System significant
new responsibilities for the supervision of systemically important financial institutions, system-
ically important financial market utilities, and thrift holding companies. The Dodd-Frank Act
also necessitates revisions to existing supervisory policies. For the Bank, these changes, along
with the rapidly changing landscape of the financial services industry, will require additional
resources and new expertise.

With respect to its priced service activities, declining check volumes and advances in elec-

tronic payment technologies continue to challenge the System to adapt in order to meet its statu-



2010 BY THE NUMBERS

11.7 billion ACH (Automated Clearing House) payments worth
approximately $21.4 trillion. FedACH is a nationwide system,
developed and operated by Minneapolis staff on behalf of the entire
Federal Reserve System, which provides the electronic exchange

of debits and credits.

$10.6 billion of currency deposits from financial institutions,
destroyed $897.5 million of worn and torn currency, and shipped

$12 billion of currency to financial institutions.

Tenders, account maintenance, forms, and other customer transactions
for 227,000 active Legacy Treasury Direct accounts for individuals
holding Treasury securities totaling $45 billion, and 2.7 million savings
bond purchase requests worth $1.2 billion, as one of two Treasury

Retail Securities sites in the Federal Reserve System.

188,000 transaction items valued at $464 billion through FR-ETA
(Federal Reserve-Electronic Tax Application), a same-day payment

mechanism, hosted by the Federal Reserve Bank of Minneapolis, for

businesses paying federal taxes via their financial institutions.
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tory cost recovery obligations. In response, the System’s check business strategy focuses on virtu-
ally eliminating its paper-processing infrastructure and transitioning to electronic processing.
Pursuant to this strategy, in May 2010, the Bank closed its check operations, marking the end of
nearly a century of clearing checks. Change will also be a continuing reality in the BanKk’s other key
operating areas where it conducts consolidated activities on behalf of the System, including
Treasury Retail Services, Electronic Access customer support and FedACH, as these areas respond
to the impact of technology advances, marketplace dynamics, and evolving business plans.

Over the next few years, the Bank will continue to pursue opportunities to leverage its cus-
tomer support infrastructure to efficiently support other System operations. As it has recently
with the National Service Desk, the Bank will continue to look for System consolidation opportu-
nities that are well aligned with its existing operations, strengths, and strategic priorities.

Strengthening the Bank’s Research and Public Programs areas will be an important priority
over the next few years. The Bank will continue its focus on academic research in applied eco-
nomics as well as expanding its capabilities related to selected public policy issue oriented
research. In addition, the Bank’s outreach efforts to its diverse constituencies and stakeholders
will be broadened and strengthened.

The Bank’s continued success in addressing challenges is a result of our employees’ strong
commitment to excellence and the Bank’s core values. One of the requirements of the Dodd-Frank
Act is the establishment of an Office of Minority and Women Inclusion to focus on, among other
things, improving diversity of the Bank's workforce and the participation of minority- and
women-owned businesses in the BanK’s programs and procurements. These requirements of the
Dodd-Frank Act reinforce the Bank’s long-standing commitment to diversity in its workforce and
business relationships.

As we look to the future, we will strive to sustain our commitment to excellence and our core
values, successfully meet future challenges, and thereby continue to support the System’s mission
to foster stability, integrity, and efficiency in the nation’s monetary, financial, and payments sys-

tems to promote optimal economic performance.

e

James M. Lyon

First Vice President
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Auditor Indepedence

In 2010, the Board of Governors engaged
Deloitte & Touche LLP (D&T) for the audits
of the individual and combined financial
statements of the Reserve Banks and the
consolidated financial statements of the limited
liability companies (LLCs) that are associated
with Federal Reserve actions to address the
financial crisis and are consolidated in the
financial statements of the Federal Reserve
Bank of New York. Fees for D&T’s services
are estimated to be $8.0 million, of which
approximately $1.6 million were for the audits
of the LLCs.! To ensure auditor independence,
the Board of Governors requires that D&T be
independent in all matters relating to the
audit. Specifically, D&T may not perform
services for the Reserve Banks or others that
would place it in a position of auditing its own
work, making management decisions on
behalf of Reserve Banks, or in any other way
impairing its audit independence. In 2010,
the Bank did not engage D&T for any non-

audit services.

1 Each LLC will reimburse the Board of Governors for
the fees related to the audit of its financial statements

from the entity’s available net assets.
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90 Hennepin Avenue, P.O. Box 291

Federal Reserve Bank of Minneapolis
Minneapolis, Minnesota 55480-0291

Phone (612) 204-5000

March 22, 2011

Board of Directors

Federal Reserve Bank of Minneapolis
90 Hennepin Avenue, P.O. Box 291
Minneapolis, MN 55480

Subject: Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

The management of the Federal Reserve Bank of Minneapolis (FRBM) is responsible for the preparation and
fair presentation of the Statements of Condition as of December 31, 2010 and 2009, and the Statements of
Income and Comprehensive Income, and Statements of Changes in Capital for the years then ended (the
Financial Statements). The Financial Statements have been prepared in conformity with the accounting prin-
ciples, policies, and practices established by the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System as set forth
in the Financial Accounting Manual for Federal Reserve Banks (FAM), and, as such, include some amounts that
are based on management judgments and estimates. To our knowledge, the Financial Statements are, in all
material respects, fairly presented in conformity with the accounting principles, policies and practices docu-
mented in the FAM and include all disclosures necessary for such fair presentation.

The management of the FRBM is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control over
financial reporting as it relates to the Financial Statements. Such internal control is designed to provide rea-
sonable assurance to management and to the Board of Directors regarding the preparation of the Financial
Statements in accordance with the FAM. Internal control contains self-monitoring mechanisms, including,
but not limited to, divisions of responsibility and a code of conduct. Once identified, any material deficien-

cies in internal control are reported to management and appropriate corrective measures are implemented.

Even effective internal control, no matter how well designed, has inherent limitations, including the possibil-
ity of human error, and therefore can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to the preparation of
reliable financial statements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject
to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of com-

pliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.



The management of the FRBM assessed its internal control over financial reporting reflected in the Financial
Statements, based upon the criteria established in the “Internal Control -- Integrated Framework” issued by
the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on this assessment, we
believe that the FRBM maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as it relates to the

Financial Statements.

Federal Reserve Bank of Minneapolis

é’w%m [y

\
Narayana R. Kocherlakota James M. Lyon

President First Vice President
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Minneapolis, MN 55402-1538
USA

Tel: +1 612 397 4000
Fax: +1 612 397 4450
www.deloitte.com

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

To the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System

and the Board of Directors of the Federal Reserve Bank of Minneapolis:

We have audited the accompanying Statements of Condition of the Federal Reserve Bank of Minneapolis (“FRB
Minneapolis”) as of December 31, 2010 and 2009 and the related Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income,
and of Changes in Capital for the years then ended, which have been prepared in conformity with accounting prin-
ciples established by the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System. We also have audited the internal con-
trol over financial reporting of the FRB Minneapolis as of December 31, 2010, based on criteria established in
Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission. The FRB Minneapolis's management is responsible for these Financial Statements, for maintaining
effective internal control over financial reporting, and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over
financial reporting, included in the accompanying Managements Report on Internal Control Over Financial
Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these Financial Statements and an opinion on the FRB

Minneapolis's internal control over financial reporting based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards as established by the Auditing
Standards Board (United States) and in accordance with the auditing standards of the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the Financial Statements are free of material misstatement and whether effective internal
control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audits of the Financial Statements
included examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the Financial Statements,
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an under-
standing of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing
and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audits also
included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our

audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.

The FRB Minneapolis’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed by, or under the supervision
of, the FRB Minneapolis's principal executive and principal financial officers, or persons performing similar func-

tions, and effected by the FRB Minneapolis’s board of directors, management, and other personnel to provide rea-

Member of
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu



sonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of Financial Statements for
external purposes in accordance with the accounting principles established by the Board of Governors of the Federal
Reserve System. The FRB Minneapolis's internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and proce-
dures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transac-
tions and dispositions of the assets of the FRB Minneapolis; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are
recorded as necessary to permit preparation of Financial Statements in accordance with the accounting principles
established by the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, and that receipts and expenditures of the FRB
Minneapolis are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the FRB
Minneapolis; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisi-

tion, use, or disposition of the FRB Minneapolis’s assets that could have a material effect on the Financial Statements.

Because of the inherent limitations of internal control over financial reporting, including the possibility of collusion
or improper management override of controls, material misstatements due to error or fraud may not be prevented or
detected on a timely basis. Also, projections of any evaluation of the effectiveness of the internal control over finan-
cial reporting to future periods are subject to the risk that the controls may become inadequate because of changes

in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

As described in Note 4 to the Financial Statements, the FRB Minneapolis has prepared these Financial Statements in
conformity with accounting principles established by the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, as set forth
in the Financial Accounting Manual for Federal Reserve Banks, which is a comprehensive basis of accounting other than
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. The effects on such Financial Statements of
the differences between the accounting principles established by the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System

and accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America are also described in Note 4.

In our opinion, such Financial Statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the FRB
Minneapolis as of December 31, 2010 and 2009, and the results of its operations for the years then ended, on the basis
of accounting described in Note 4. Also, in our opinion, the FRB Minneapolis maintained, in all material respects,
effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2010, based on the criteria established in
Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway

Commission.

March 22, 2011



Abbreviations:

ACH
AMLF
ASC
BEP
Bureau

Dodd-Frank Act
FAM
FASB

Fannie Mae
Freddie Mac
FOMC
FRBA
FRBC
FRBNY
GAAP
GSE
IMF
MBS
OEB
OFR
SDR
SERP
SOMA
STRIP
TAF
TBA
TDF
TIPS
TSLF
TOP

Federal Reserve Bank of Minneapolis

Automated clearinghouse

Asset-Backed Commercial Paper Money Market Mutual Fund Liquidity Facility
Accounting Standards Codification

Benefit Equalization Retirement Plan

Bureau of Consumer Financial Protection

The Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010
Financial Accounting Manual for Federal Reserve Banks

Financial Accounting Standards Board

Federal National Mortgage Association

Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation

Federal Open Market Committee

Federal Reserve Bank of Atlanta

Federal Reserve Bank of Chicago

Federal Reserve Bank of New York

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America
Government-sponsored enterprise

International Monetary Fund

Mortgage-backed securities

Office of Employee Benefits of the Federal Reserve System

Office of Financial Research

Special drawing rights

Supplemental Retirement Plan for Select Officers of the Federal Reserve Banks
System Open Market Account

Separate Trading of Registered Interest and Principal of Securities
Term Auction Facility

To be announced

Term Deposit Facility

Treasury Inflation-Protected Securities

Term Securities Lending Facility

Term Securities Lending Facility Options Program



Federal Reserve Bank of Minneapolis

STATEMENTS OF CONDITION
As of December 31, 2010 and December 31, 2009

(in millions)

2010 2009
ASSETS
Gold certificates $ 203 $ 197
Special drawing rights certificates 90 90
Coin 60 62
Items in process of collection 69 26
Loans:
Depository institutions 8 242
System Open Market Account:
Treasury securities, net 14,606 13,343
Government-sponsored enterprise debt securities, net 2,094 2,771
Federal agency and government-sponsored enterprise
mortgage-backed securities, net 13,754 15,213
Foreign currency denominated assets, net 723 389
Central bank liquidity swaps 2 158
Accrued interest receivable 195 209
Bank premises and equipment, net 116 120
Other assets 30 22
Total assets $ 31,950 $ 32,842
LIABILITIES AND CAPITAL
Federal Reserve notes outstanding, net $ 14,074 $ 16,702
System Open Market Account:
Securities sold under agreements to repurchase 817 1,287
Other liabilities - 10
Deposits:
Depository institutions 6,657 4,502
Other deposits 4 1
Interest payable to depository institutions 1 -
Accrued benefit costs 72 69
Deferred credit items 263 271
Accrued interest on Federal Reserve notes 37 14
Interdistrict settlement account 8,382 8,558
Other liabilities 5 4
Total liabilities 30,312 31,418
Capital paid-in 819 712
Surplus (including accumulated other comprehensive
loss of $8 million and $9 million at December 31, 2010
and 2009, respectively) 819 712
Total capital 1,638 1,424
Total liabilities and capital $ 31,950 $ 32,842

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.



Federal Reserve Bank of Minneapolis

STATEMENTS OF INCOME AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the years ended December 31, 2010 and December 31, 2009

(in millions)

2010 2009
Interest income:
Loans:
Depository institutions $ - 5
System Open Market Account:
Treasury securities, net 383 390
Government-sponsored enterprise debt securities, net 51 34
Federal agency and government-sponsored enterprise
mortgage-backed securities, net 651 341
Foreign currency denominated assets, net 6 5
Central bank liquidity swaps - 36
Total interest income 1,091 811
Interest expense:
System Open Market Account:
Securities sold under agreements to repurchase 1 2
Deposits:
Depository institutions 41 8
Total interest expense 42 10
Net interest income 1,049 801
Non-interest income:
System Open Market Account:
Federal agency and government-sponsored enterprise
mortgage-backed securities gains, net 12 14
Foreign currency gains (losses), net 15 (1)
Compensation received for service costs provided 52 60
Reimbursable services to government agencies 27 28
Other income 1 4
Total non-interest income 107 105
Operating expenses:
Salaries and benefits 102 101
Occupancy 11 12
Equipment 5 5
Assessments:
Board of Governors operating expenses and currency costs 26 19
Bureau of Consumer Financial Protection
and Office of Financial Research 1 -
Other 30 34
Total operating expenses 175 171
Net income prior to distribution 981 735
Change in funded status of benefit plans 1 (4)
Comprehensive income prior to distribution $ 982 731
Distribution of comprehensive income:
Dividends paid to member banks $ 47 35
Transferred to surplus and change in accumulated
other comprehensive loss 107 387
Payments to Treasury as interest on Federal Reserve notes 828 309
Total distribution $ 982 § 731

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.



Federal Reserve Bank of Minneapolis

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN CAPITAL

For the years ended December 31, 2010 and December 31, 2009
(in millions, except share data)

Balance at January 1, 2009
(6,487,452 shares)

Net change in capital stock
issued (7,753,472 shares)

Transferred to surplus and
change in accumulated other
comprehensive loss

Balance at December 31, 2009
(14,240,924 shares)

Net change in capital stock
issued (2,144,420 shares)

Transferred to surplus and
change in accumulated other
comprehensive loss

Balance at December 31, 2010
(16,385,344 shares)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

Surplus
Accumulated
Net other
Capital income comprehensive  Total Total
paid-in retained loss surplus capital
$ 325 330 $ (5) 325 $ 650
387 - - - 387
" 391 (4) 387 387
$ 712 721 % (9) 712§ 1,424
107 - - - 107
- 106 1 107 107
5 819 827  § (8) 819 $ 1,638




Federal Reserve Bank of Minneapolis

Notes to Financial Statements

1. STRUCTURE

The Federal Reserve Bank of Minneapolis (Bank) is part of the Federal Reserve System (System)
and is one of the 12 Federal Reserve Banks (Reserve Banks) created by Congress under the
Federal Reserve Act of 1913 (Federal Reserve Act), which established the central bank of the
United States. The Reserve Banks are chartered by the federal government and possess a unique
set of governmental, corporate, and central bank characteristics. The Bank serves the Ninth
Federal Reserve District, which includes Minnesota, Montana, North Dakota, South Dakota and

portions of Michigan and Wisconsin.

In accordance with the Federal Reserve Act, supervision and control of the Bank is exercised by a
board of directors. The Federal Reserve Act specifies the composition of the board of directors for
each of the Reserve Banks. Each board is composed of nine members serving three-year terms:
three directors, including those designated as chairman and deputy chairman, are appointed by the
Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System (Board of Governors) to represent the public, and
six directors are elected by member banks. Banks that are members of the System include all nation-
al banks and any state-chartered banks that apply and are approved for membership. Member banks
are divided into three classes according to size. Member banks in each class elect one director rep-
resenting member banks and one representing the public. In any election of directors, each mem-

ber bank receives one vote, regardless of the number of shares of Reserve Bank stock it holds.

In addition to the 12 Reserve Banks, the System also consists, in part, of the Board of Governors
and the Federal Open Market Committee (FOMC). The Board of Governors, an independent
federal agency, is charged by the Federal Reserve Act with a number of specific duties, including
general supervision over the Reserve Banks. The FOMC is composed of members of the Board
of Governors, the president of the Federal Reserve Bank of New York (FRBNY), and, on a rotat-

ing basis, four other Reserve Bank presidents.

2. OPERATIONS AND SERVICES

The Reserve Banks perform a variety of services and operations. These functions include partic-
ipating in formulating and conducting monetary policy; participating in the payment system,
including large-dollar transfers of funds, automated clearinghouse (ACH) operations, and check
collection; distributing coin and currency; performing fiscal agency functions for the U.S.
Department of the Treasury (Treasury), certain Federal agencies, and other entities; serving as the
federal government’s bank; providing short-term loans to depository institutions; providing loans
to individuals, partnerships, and corporations in unusual and exigent circumstances; serving con-
sumers and communities by providing educational materials and information regarding financial
consumer protection rights and laws and information on community development programs and
activities; and supervising bank holding companies, state member banks, and U.S. offices of for-
eign banking organizations. Certain services are provided to foreign and international monetary
authorities, primarily by the FRBNY.
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Notes to
Financial Statements
(Continued)

The Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010 (Dodd-Frank Act),
which was signed into law and became effective on July 21, 2010, changed the scope of some serv-
ices performed by the Reserve Banks. Among other things, the Dodd-Frank Act establishes a
Bureau of Consumer Financial Protection (Bureau) as an independent bureau within the Federal
Reserve System that will have supervisory authority over some institutions previously supervised
by the Reserve Banks under delegated authority from the Board of Governors in connection with
those institutions’ compliance with consumer protection statutes; limits the Reserve Banks’
authority to provide loans in unusual and exigent circumstances to lending programs or facilities
with broad-based eligibility; and vests the Board of Governors with all supervisory and rule-writ-

ing authority for savings and loan holding companies.

The FOMC, in conducting monetary policy, establishes policy regarding domestic open market
operations, oversees these operations, and issues authorizations and directives to the FRBNY to
execute transactions. The FOMC authorizes and directs the FRBNY to conduct operations in
domestic markets, including the direct purchase and sale of Treasury securities, Federal agency
and government-sponsored enterprise (GSE) debt securities, Federal agency and GSE mortgage-
backed securities (MBS), the purchase of these securities under agreements to resell, and the sale
of these securities under agreements to repurchase. The FRBNY holds the resulting securities and
agreements in a portfolio known as the System Open Market Account (SOMA). The FRBNY is
authorized to lend the Treasury securities and Federal agency and GSE debt securities that are
held in the SOMA.

In addition to authorizing and directing operations in the domestic securities market, the FOMC
authorizes the FRBNY to conduct operations in foreign markets in order to counter disorderly
conditions in exchange markets or to meet other needs specified by the FOMC to carry out the
System’s central bank responsibilities. Specifically, the FOMC authorizes and directs the FRBNY
to hold balances of, and to execute spot and forward foreign exchange and securities contracts for,
14 foreign currencies and to invest such foreign currency holdings, while maintaining adequate
liquidity. The FRBNY is authorized and directed by the FOMC to maintain reciprocal currency
arrangements with the Bank of Canada and the Bank of Mexico and to “warehouse” foreign cur-

rencies for the Treasury and the Exchange Stabilization Fund.

Although the Reserve Banks are separate legal entities, they collaborate in the delivery of certain
services to achieve greater efficiency and effectiveness. This collaboration takes the form of central-
ized operations and product or function offices that have responsibility for the delivery of certain
services on behalf of the Reserve Banks. Various operational and management models are used and
are supported by service agreements between the Reserve Banks. In some cases, costs incurred by
a Reserve Bank for services provided to other Reserve Banks are not shared; in other cases, the

Reserve Banks are reimbursed for costs incurred in providing services to other Reserve Banks.

3. FINANCIAL STABILITY ACTIVITIES

The Reserve Banks have implemented the following programs that support the liquidity of finan-

cial institutions and foster improved conditions in financial markets.



Federal Reserve Bank
of Minneapolis

Notes to
Financial Statements
(Continued)

Large-Scale Asset Purchase Programs

The FOMC authorized and directed the FRBNY to purchase $300 billion of longer-term Treasury
securities to help improve conditions in private credit markets. The FRBNY began the purchas-
es of these Treasury securities in March 2009 and completed them in October 2009. On August
10, 2010, the FOMC announced that the Federal Reserve will maintain the level of domestic secu-
rities holdings in the SOMA portfolio by reinvesting principal payments from GSE debt securi-
ties and Federal agency and GSE MBS in longer-term Treasury securities. On November 3, 2010,
the FOMC announced its intention to expand the SOMA portfolio holdings of longer-term
Treasury securities by an additional $600 billion by June 2011. The FOMC will regularly review
the pace of these securities purchases and the overall size of the asset purchase program and will

adjust the program as needed to best foster maximum employment and price stability.

The FOMC authorized and directed the FRBNY to purchase GSE debt securities and Federal
agency and GSE MBS, with a goal to provide support to mortgage and housing markets and to
foster improved conditions in financial markets more generally. The FRBNY was authorized to
purchase up to $175 billion in fixed-rate, non-callable GSE debt securities and $1.25 trillion in
fixed-rate Federal agency and GSE MBS. Purchases of GSE debt securities began in November
2008, and purchases of Federal agency and GSE MBS began in January 2009. The FRBNY com-
pleted the purchases of GSE debt securities and Federal agency and GSE MBS in March 2010. The
settlement of all Federal agency and GSE MBS transactions was completed by August 2010.

Central Bank Liquidity Swaps

The FOMC authorized and directed the FRBNY to establish central bank liquidity swap arrange-
ments, which could be structured as either U.S. dollar liquidity or foreign currency liquidity swap
arrangements. U.S. dollar liquidity swap arrangements were authorized with 14 foreign central
banks to provide liquidity in U.S. dollars to overseas markets. The authorization for these swap
arrangements expired on February 1, 2010. In May 2010, U.S. dollar liquidity swap arrangements
were reestablished with the Bank of Canada, the Bank of England, the European Central Bank,

the Bank of Japan, and the Swiss National Bank; these arrangements will expire on August 1, 2011.

Foreign currency liquidity swap arrangements provided the Reserve Banks with the capacity to
offer foreign currency liquidity to U.S. depository institutions. The authorization for these swap
arrangements expired on February 1, 2010.

Lending to Depository Institutions

The Term Auction Facility (TAF) promoted the efficient dissemination of liquidity by providing
term funds to depository institutions. The last TAF auction was conducted on March 8, 2010, and
the related loans matured on April 8, 2010.

Lending to Primary Dealers

The Term Securities Lending Facility (TSLF) promoted liquidity in the financing markets for
Treasury securities. Under the TSLE, the FRBNY could lend up to an aggregate amount of $200
billion of Treasury securities held in the SOMA to primary dealers on a secured basis for a term
of 28 days. The authorization for the TSLF expired on February 1, 2010.

The Term Securities Lending Facility Options Program (TOP) offered primary dealers the oppor-
tunity to purchase an option to draw upon short-term, fixed-rate TSLF loans in exchange for eli-
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gible collateral. The program was suspended effective with the maturity of the June 2009 TOP
options, and authorization for the program expired on February 1, 2010.

Other Lending Facilities

The Asset-Backed Commercial Paper Money Market Mutual Fund Liquidity Facility (AMLF)
provided funding to depository institutions and bank holding companies to finance the purchase
of eligible high-quality asset-backed commercial paper from money market mutual funds. The
Federal Reserve Bank of Boston administered the AMLF and was authorized to extend these
loans to eligible borrowers on behalf of the other Reserve Banks. The authorization for the AMLF
expired on February 1, 2010.

4., SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Accounting principles for entities with the unique powers and responsibilities of a nation’s central
bank have not been formulated by accounting standard-setting bodies. The Board of Governors
has developed specialized accounting principles and practices that it considers to be appropriate
for the nature and function of a central bank. These accounting principles and practices are doc-
umented in the Financial Accounting Manual for Federal Reserve Banks (FAM), which is issued by
the Board of Governors. The Reserve Banks are required to adopt and apply accounting policies
and practices that are consistent with the FAM and the financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with the FAM.

Limited differences exist between the accounting principles and practices in the FAM and
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (GAAP), due to the unique nature
of the Bank’s powers and responsibilities as part of the nation’s central bank and given the System’s
unique responsibility to conduct monetary policy. The primary differences are the presentation
of all SOMA securities holdings at amortized cost and the recording of such securities on a settle-
ment-date basis. The cost basis of Treasury securities, GSE debt securities, and foreign govern-
ment debt instruments is adjusted for amortization of premiums or accretion of discounts on a
straight-line basis, rather than using the interest method required by GAAP. Amortized cost,
rather than the fair value presentation, more appropriately reflects the Bank’s securities holdings
given the System’s unique responsibility to conduct monetary policy. Accounting for these secu-
rities on a settlement-date basis, rather than the trade-date basis required by GAAP, more appro-
priately reflects the timing of the transaction’s effect on the quantity of reserves in the banking sys-
tem. Although the application of fair value measurements to the securities holdings may result in
values substantially greater or less than their carrying values, these unrealized changes in value
have no direct effect on the quantity of reserves available to the banking system or on the
prospects for future Bank earnings or capital. Both the domestic and foreign components of the
SOMA portfolio may involve transactions that result in gains or losses when holdings are sold
before maturity. Decisions regarding securities and foreign currency transactions, including their
purchase and sale, are motivated by monetary policy objectives rather than profit. Accordingly,
fair values, earnings, and gains or losses resulting from the sale of such securities and currencies
are incidental to open market operations and do not motivate decisions related to policy or open

market activities.

In addition, the Bank does not present a Statement of Cash Flows as required by GAAP because

the liquidity and cash position of the Bank are not a primary concern given the Reserve Banks’
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unique powers and responsibilities. Other information regarding the Banks activities is provid-
ed in, or may be derived from, the Statements of Condition, Income and Comprehensive Income,
and Changes in Capital. There are no other significant differences between the policies outlined
in the FAM and GAAP.

Preparing the financial statements in conformity with the FAM requires management to make
certain estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the report-
ed amounts of income and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from

those estimates. Unique accounts and significant accounting policies are explained below.
a. Consolidation

The Dodd-Frank Act established the Bureau as an independent bureau within the Federal Reserve
System, and section 1017 of the Dodd-Frank Act provides that the financial statements of the
Bureau are not to be consolidated with those of the Board of Governors or the Federal Reserve
System. Section 152 of the Dodd-Frank Act established the Office of Financial Research (OFR)
within the Treasury. The Board of Governors funds the Bureau and OFR through assessments on
the Reserve Banks as required by the Dodd-Frank Act. The Reserve Banks reviewed the law and
evaluated the design of and their relationships to the Bureau and the OFR and determined that
neither should be consolidated in the Reserve Banks’ financial statements.

b. Gold and Special Drawing Rights Certificates

The Secretary of the Treasury is authorized to issue gold and special drawing rights (SDR) certifi-
cates to the Reserve Banks. Upon authorization, the Reserve Banks acquire gold certificates by
crediting equivalent amounts in dollars to the account established for the Treasury. The gold cer-
tificates held by the Reserve Banks are required to be backed by the gold owned by the Treasury.
The Treasury may reacquire the gold certificates at any time and the Reserve Banks must deliver
them to the Treasury. At such time, the Treasury’s account is charged, and the Reserve Banks’ gold
certificate accounts are reduced. The value of gold for purposes of backing the gold certificates is
set by law at $42 2/9 per fine troy ounce. The Board of Governors allocates the gold certificates
among the Reserve Banks once a year based on the average Federal Reserve notes outstanding at
each Reserve Bank.

SDR certificates are issued by the International Monetary Fund (IMF) to its members in propor-
tion to each member’s quota in the IMF at the time of issuance. SDR certificates serve as a sup-
plement to international monetary reserves and may be transferred from one national monetary
authority to another. Under the law providing for U.S. participation in the SDR system, the
Secretary of the Treasury is authorized to issue SDR certificates to the Reserve Banks. When SDR
certificates are issued to the Reserve Banks, equivalent amounts in U.S. dollars are credited to the
account established for the Treasury and the Reserve Banks SDR certificate accounts are
increased. The Reserve Banks are required to purchase SDR certificates, at the direction of the
Treasury, for the purpose of financing SDR acquisitions or for financing exchange stabilization
operations. At the time SDR transactions occur, the Board of Governors allocates SDR certificate
transactions among the Reserve Banks based upon each Reserve Bank’s Federal Reserve notes
outstanding at the end of the preceding year. SDRs are recorded by the Bank at original cost. In
2009, the Treasury issued $3 billion in SDR certificates to the Reserve Banks, of which $60 mil-

lion was allocated to the Bank. There were no SDR transactions in 2010.
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c. Coin

The amount reported as coin in the Statements of Condition represents the face value of all United
States coin held by the Bank. The Bank buys coin at face value from the U.S. Mint in order to fill

depository institution orders.
d. Loans

Loans to depository institutions are reported at their outstanding principal balances, and interest

income is recognized on an accrual basis.

Loans are impaired when current information and events indicate that it is probable that the Bank
will not receive the principal and interest that is due in accordance with the contractual terms of
the loan agreement. Impaired loans are evaluated to determine whether an allowance for loan loss
is required. The Bank has developed procedures for assessing the adequacy of any allowance for
loan losses using all available information to identify incurred losses. This assessment includes
monitoring information obtained from banking supervisors, borrowers, and other sources to
assess the credit condition of the borrowers and, as appropriate, evaluating collateral values.
Generally, the Bank would discontinue recognizing interest income on impaired loans until the
borrower’s repayment performance demonstrates principal and interest would be received in
accordance with the terms of the loan agreement. If the Bank discontinues recording interest on
an impaired loan, cash payments are first applied to principal until the loan balance is reduced to
zero; subsequent payments are applied as recoveries of amounts previously deemed uncollectible,

if any, and then as interest income.

e. Securities Purchased Under Agreements to Resell, Securities Sold Under Agreements to
Repurchase, and Securities Lending

The FRBNY may engage in purchases of securities with primary dealers under agreements to
resell (repurchase transactions). These repurchase transactions are settled through a tri-party
arrangement. In a tri-party arrangement, two commercial custodial banks manage the collateral
clearing, settlement, pricing, and pledging, and provide cash and securities custodial services for
and on behalf of the Bank and counterparty. The collateral pledged must exceed the principal
amount of the transaction by a margin determined by the FRBNY for each class and maturity of
acceptable collateral. Collateral designated by the FRBNY as acceptable under repurchase trans-
actions primarily includes Treasury securities (including TIPS and STRIP Treasury securities);
direct obligations of several Federal agency and GSE-related agencies, including Fannie Mae and
Freddie Mac; and pass-through MBS of Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac, and Ginnie Mae. The repur-
chase transactions are accounted for as financing transactions with the associated interest income
recognized over the life of the transaction. Repurchase transactions are reported at their contrac-
tual amount as “System Open Market Account: Securities purchased under agreements to resell,”
and the related accrued interest receivable is reported as a component of “Accrued interest receiv-

able” in the Statements of Condition.

The FRBNY may engage in sales of securities under agreements to repurchase (reverse repurchase
transactions) with primary dealers and, beginning August 2010, with selected money market
funds, as an open market operation. These reverse repurchase transactions may be executed
through a tri-party arrangement, similar to repurchase transactions. Reverse repurchase transac-
tions may also be executed with foreign official and international account holders as part of a
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service offering. Reverse repurchase agreements are collateralized by a pledge of an amount of
Treasury securities, GSE debt securities, and Federal agency and GSE MBS that are held in the
SOMA. Reverse repurchase transactions are accounted for as financing transactions, and the
associated interest expense is recognized over the life of the transaction. These transactions are
reported at their contractual amounts as “System Open Market Account: Securities sold under
agreements to repurchase” and the related accrued interest payable is reported as a component of

“Other liabilities” in the Statements of Condition.

Treasury securities and GSE debt securities held in the SOMA may be lent to primary dealers to
facilitate the effective functioning of the domestic securities markets. Overnight securities lend-
ing transactions are fully collateralized by Treasury securities that have fair values in excess of the
securities lent. The FRBNY charges the primary dealer a fee for borrowing securities, and these
fees are reported as a component of “Other income” in the Statements of Income and

Comprehensive Income.

Activity related to securities purchased under agreements to resell, securities sold under agree-
ments to repurchase, and securities lending is allocated to each of the Reserve Banks on a percent-
age basis derived from an annual settlement of the interdistrict settlement account that occurs in
April each year.

f. Treasury Securities; Government-Sponsored Enterprise Debt Securities; Federal Agency
and Government-Sponsored Enterprise Mortgage-Backed Securities; Foreign Currency

Denominated Assets; and Warehousing Agreements

Interest income on Treasury securities, GSE debt securities, and foreign currency denominated
assets comprising the SOMA is accrued on a straight-line basis. Interest income on Federal
agency and GSE MBS is accrued using the interest method and includes amortization of premi-
ums, accretion of discounts, and gains or losses associated with principal paydowns. Premiums
and discounts related to Federal agency and GSE MBS are amortized over the term of the securi-
ty to stated maturity, and the amortization of premiums and accretion of discounts are accelerat-
ed when principal payments are received. Paydown gains and losses represent the difference
between the principal amount paid and the amortized cost basis of the related security. Gains and
losses resulting from sales of securities are determined by specific issue based on average cost.
Treasury securities, GSE debt securities, and Federal agency and GSE MBS are reported net of
premiums and discounts on the Statements of Condition and interest income on those securities
is reported net of the amortization of premiums and accretion of discounts on the Statements of

Income and Comprehensive Income.

In addition to outright purchases of Federal agency and GSE MBS that are held in the SOMA, the
FRBNY entered into dollar roll transactions (dollar rolls), which primarily involve an initial trans-
action to purchase or sell “to be announced” (TBA) MBS for delivery in the current month com-
bined with a simultaneous agreement to sell or purchase TBA MBS on a specified future date. The
FRBNY also executed a limited number of TBA MBS coupon swap transactions, which involve a
simultaneous sale of a TBA MBS and purchase of another TBA MBS of a different coupon rate.
The FRBNY’s participation in the dollar roll and coupon swap markets furthers the MBS purchase
program goal of providing support to the mortgage and housing markets and fostering improved
conditions in financial markets more generally. The FRBNY accounts for outstanding commit-
ments under dollar roll and coupon swaps on a settlement-date basis. Based on the terms of the
FRBNY dollar roll and coupon swap transactions, transfers of MBS upon settlement of the initial
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TBA MBS transactions are accounted for as purchases or sales in accordance with FASB ASC
Topic 860 (ASC 860), Transfers and Servicing, and the related outstanding commitments are
accounted for as sales or purchases upon settlement. Net gains (losses) resulting from dollar roll
and coupon swap transactions are reported as “Non-interest income: System Open Market
Account: Federal agency and government-sponsored enterprise mortgage-backed securities gains,

net” in the Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income.

Foreign currency denominated assets are revalued daily at current foreign currency market
exchange rates in order to report these assets in U.S. dollars. Realized and unrealized gains and
losses on foreign currency denominated assets are reported as “Foreign currency gains (losses),

net” in the Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income.

Activity related to Treasury securities, GSE debt securities, and Federal agency and GSE MBS,
including the premiums, discounts, and realized gains and losses, is allocated to each Reserve
Bank on a percentage basis derived from an annual settlement of the interdistrict settlement
account that occurs in April of each year. Activity related to foreign currency denominated assets,
including the premiums, discounts, and realized and unrealized gains and losses, is allocated to
each Reserve Bank based on the ratio of each Reserve Bank’ capital and surplus to aggregate cap-

ital and surplus at the preceding December 31.

Warehousing is an arrangement under which the FOMC has approved the exchange, at the
request of the Treasury, of U.S. dollars for foreign currencies held by the Treasury over a limited
period of time. The purpose of the warehousing facility is to supplement the U.S. dollar resources
of the Treasury for financing purchases of foreign currencies and related international operations.
Warehousing agreements are designated as held-for-trading purposes and are valued daily at cur-
rent market exchange rates. Activity related to these agreements is allocated to each Reserve Bank
based on the ratio of each Reserve BanKk’s capital and surplus to aggregate capital and surplus at
the preceding December 31.

g. Central Bank Liquidity Swaps

Central bank liquidity swaps, which are transacted between the FRBNY and a foreign central
bank, can be structured as either U.S. dollar liquidity or foreign currency liquidity swap arrange-
ments.

Central bank liquidity swaps activity, including the related income and expense, is allocated to
each Reserve Bank based on the ratio of each Reserve Bank’s capital and surplus to aggregate cap-
ital and surplus at the preceding December 31. The foreign currency amounts associated with
these central bank liquidity swap arrangements are revalued at current foreign currency market

exchange rates.
U.S. dollar liquidity swaps

At the initiation of each U.S. dollar liquidity swap transaction, the foreign central bank transfers
a specified amount of its currency to a restricted account for the FRBNY in exchange for U.S. dol-
lars at the prevailing market exchange rate. Concurrent with this transaction, the FRBNY and the
foreign central bank agree to a second transaction that obligates the foreign central bank to return
the U.S. dollars and the FRBNY to return the foreign currency on a specified future date at the
same exchange rate as the initial transaction. The BanK’s allocated portion of the foreign curren-
cy amounts that the FRBNY acquires is reported as “Central bank liquidity swaps” on the
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Statements of Condition. Because the swap transaction will be unwound at the same U.S. dollar
amount and exchange rate that were used in the initial transaction, the recorded value of the for-

eign currency amounts is not affected by changes in the market exchange rate.

The foreign central bank compensates the FRBNY based on the foreign currency amounts it holds
for the FRBNY. The FRBNY recognizes compensation during the term of the swap transaction
and reports it as “Interest income: Central bank liquidity swaps” in the Statements of Income and

Comprehensive Income.
Foreign currency liquidity swaps

The structure of foreign currency liquidity swap transactions involves the transfer by the FRBNY,
at the prevailing market exchange rate, of a specified amount of U.S. dollars to an account for the
foreign central bank in exchange for its currency. The foreign currency amount received would
be reported as a liability by the Bank.

h. Interdistrict Settlement Account

At the close of business each day, each Reserve Bank aggregates the payments due to or from other
Reserve Banks. These payments result from transactions between the Reserve Banks and trans-
actions that involve depository institution accounts held by other Reserve Banks, such as Fedwire
funds and securities transfers and check and ACH transactions. The cumulative net amount due
to or from the other Reserve Banks is reflected in the “Interdistrict settlement account” in the
Statements of Condition.

i. Bank Premises, Equipment, and Software

Bank premises and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is
calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets, which range from
2 to 50 years. Major alterations, renovations, and improvements are capitalized at cost as addi-
tions to the asset accounts and are depreciated over the remaining useful life of the asset or, if
appropriate, over the unique useful life of the alteration, renovation, or improvement.
Maintenance, repairs, and minor replacements are charged to operating expense in the year

incurred.

Costs incurred for software during the application development stage, whether developed inter-
nally or acquired for internal use, are capitalized based on the purchase cost and the cost of direct
services and materials associated with designing, coding, installing, and testing the software.
Capitalized software costs are amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of
the software applications, which generally range from two to five years. Maintenance costs relat-

ed to software are charged to expense in the year incurred.

Capitalized assets, including software, buildings, leasehold improvements, furniture, and equip-
ment, are impaired and an adjustment is recorded when events or changes in circumstances indi-
cate that the carrying amount of assets or asset groups is not recoverable and significantly exceeds
the assets’ fair value.

j. Federal Reserve Notes

Federal Reserve notes are the circulating currency of the United States. These notes, which are
identified as issued to a specific Reserve Bank, must be fully collateralized. All of the BanK’s assets
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are eligible to be pledged as collateral. The collateral value is equal to the book value of the col-
lateral tendered with the exception of securities, for which the collateral value is equal to the par
value of the securities tendered. The par value of securities sold under agreements to repurchase

is deducted from the eligible collateral value.

The Board of Governors may, at any time, call upon a Reserve Bank for additional security to ade-
quately collateralize outstanding Federal Reserve notes. To satisfy the obligation to provide suffi-
cient collateral for outstanding Federal Reserve notes, the Reserve Banks have entered into an
agreement that provides for certain assets of the Reserve Banks to be jointly pledged as collateral
for the Federal Reserve notes issued to all Reserve Banks. In the event that this collateral is insuf-
ficient, the Federal Reserve Act provides that Federal Reserve notes become a first and paramount
lien on all the assets of the Reserve Banks. Finally, Federal Reserve notes are obligations of the
United States government. “Federal Reserve notes outstanding, net” in the Statements of
Condition represents the Bank’s Federal Reserve notes outstanding, reduced by the BanK’s curren-
cy holdings of $5,781 million and $2,628 million at December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively.

At December 31, 2010 and 2009, all Federal Reserve notes issued to the Reserve Banks were fully
collateralized. At December 31, 2010, all gold certificates, all special drawing right certificates,
and $925 billion of domestic securities held in the SOMA were pledged as collateral. At December
31, 2010, no investments denominated in foreign currencies were pledged as collateral.

k. Deposits
Depository Institutions

Depository institutions deposits represent the reserve and service-related balances in the accounts
that depository institutions hold at the Bank. The interest rates paid on required reserve balances
and excess balances are determined by the Board of Governors, based on an FOMC-established
target range for the federal funds rate. Interest payable is reported as “Interest payable to depos-

itory institutions” on the Statements of Condition.

The Term Deposit Facility (TDF) consists of deposits with specific maturities held by eligible
institutions at the Reserve Banks. The Reserve Banks pay interest on these deposits at interest
rates determined by auction. Interest payable is reported as “Interest payable to depository insti-
tutions” on the Statements of Condition. There were no deposits held by the Bank under the TDF
at December 31, 2010.

Other

Other deposits include foreign central bank and foreign government deposits held at the FRBNY
that are allocated to the Bank.

L. Items in Process of Collection and Deferred Credit Items

“Items in process of collection” primarily represents amounts attributable to checks that have been
deposited for collection and that, as of the balance sheet date, have not yet been presented to the
paying bank. “Deferred credit items” are the counterpart liability to items in process of collection.
The amounts in this account arise from deferring credit for deposited items until the amounts are

collected. The balances in both accounts can vary significantly.
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m. Capital Paid-in

The Federal Reserve Act requires that each member bank subscribe to the capital stock of the
Reserve Bank in an amount equal to 6 percent of the capital and surplus of the member bank.
These shares are nonvoting with a par value of $100 and may not be transferred or hypothecated.
As a member bank’s capital and surplus changes, its holdings of Reserve Bank stock must be
adjusted. Currently, only one-half of the subscription is paid in and the remainder is subject to
call. A member bank is liable for Reserve Bank liabilities up to twice the par value of stock sub-
scribed by it.

By law, each Reserve Bank is required to pay each member bank an annual dividend of 6 percent
on the paid-in capital stock. This cumulative dividend is paid semiannually. To meet the Federal
Reserve Act requirement that annual dividends be deducted from net earnings, dividends are pre-
sented as a distribution of comprehensive income in the Statements of Income and

Comprehensive Income.
n. Surplus

The Board of Governors requires the Reserve Banks to maintain a surplus equal to the amount of
capital paid-in as of December 31 of each year. Accumulated other comprehensive income is
reported as a component of “Surplus” in the Statements of Condition and the Statements of
Changes in Capital. Additional information regarding the classifications of accumulated other

comprehensive income is provided in Notes 12 and 13.
o. Interest on Federal Reserve Notes

The Board of Governors requires the Reserve Banks to transfer excess earnings to the Treasury as
interest on Federal Reserve notes after providing for the costs of operations, payment of divi-
dends, and reservation of an amount necessary to equate surplus with capital paid-in. This
amount is reported as “Payments to Treasury as interest on Federal Reserve notes” in the
Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income. The amount due to the Treasury is reported

as “Accrued interest on Federal Reserve notes” in the Statements of Condition.”

If earnings during the year are not sufficient to provide for the costs of operations, payment of divi-
dends, and equating surplus and capital paid-in, payments to the Treasury are suspended. A deferred
asset is recorded that represents the amount of net earnings a Reserve Bank will need to realize before

remittances to Treasury resume. This deferred asset is periodically reviewed for impairment.

In the event of a decrease in capital paid-in, the excess surplus, after equating capital paid-in and
surplus at December 31, is distributed to the Treasury in the following year.

p. Income and Costs Related to Treasury Services

When directed by the Secretary of the Treasury, the Bank is required by the Federal Reserve Act
to serve as fiscal agent and depositary of the United States Government. By statute, the Treasury
has appropriations to pay for these services. During the years ended December 31, 2010 and
2009, the Bank was reimbursed for all services provided to the Treasury as its fiscal agent.

q. Compensation Received for Service Costs Provided

The Federal Reserve Bank of Atlanta (FRBA) has overall responsibility for managing the Reserve
Banks’ provision of check and ACH services to depository institutions and, as a result, recognizes
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total System revenue for these services on its Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income.
The FRBNY manages the Reserve Banks’ provision of Fedwire funds and securities services and
recognizes total System revenue for these services on its Consolidated Statements of Income and
Comprehensive Income. Similarly, the Federal Reserve Bank of Chicago (FRBC) has overall
responsibility for managing the Reserve Banks’ provision of electronic access services to deposi-
tory institutions and, as a result, recognizes total System revenue for these services on its
Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income. The FRBA, the FRBNY, and the FRBC com-
pensate the applicable Reserve Banks for the costs incurred to provide these services. The Bank
reports this compensation as “Compensation received for service costs provided” in the

Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income.
r. Assessments

The Board of Governors assesses the Reserve Banks to fund its operations and the operations of
the Bureau and, for a two-year period, the OFR. These assessments are allocated to each Reserve
Bank based on each Reserve BanK’s capital and surplus balances as of December 31 of the prior
year for the Board of Governor’s operations and as of the most recent quarter for the Bureau and
OFR operations. The Board of Governors also assesses each Reserve Bank for the expenses
incurred by the Treasury to produce and retire Federal Reserve notes based on each Reserve
Bank’s share of the number of notes comprising the System’s net liability for Federal Reserve notes

on December 31 of the prior year.

During the period prior to the Bureau transfer date of July 21, 2011, there is no fixed limit on the
funding that can be provided to the Bureau and that is assessed to the Reserve Banks; the Board
of Governors must provide the amount estimated by the Secretary of the Treasury needed to carry
out the authorities granted to the Bureau under the Dodd-Frank Act and other federal laws. After
the transfer date, the Dodd-Frank Act requires the Board of Governors to fund the Bureau in an
amount not to exceed a fixed percentage of the total operating expenses of the Federal Reserve
System as reported in the Board of Governors’ 2009 annual report. The fixed percentage of total
operating expenses of the System is 10% for 2011, 11% for 2012, and 12% for 2013. After 2013,
the amount will be adjusted in accordance with the provisions of the Dodd-Frank Act.

The Board of Governors assesses the Reserve Banks to fund the operations of the OFR for the
two-year period following enactment of the Dodd-Frank Act; thereafter, the OFR will be funded
by fees assessed on certain bank holding companies.

s. Taxes

The Reserve Banks are exempt from federal, state, and local taxes, except for taxes on real prop-
erty. The Banks real property taxes were $3 million and $4 million for the years ended December
31, 2010 and 2009, respectively, and are reported as a component of “Operating expenses:

Occupancy” in the Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income.

t. Restructuring Charges

The Reserve Banks recognize restructuring charges for exit or disposal costs incurred as part of
the closure of business activities in a particular location, the relocation of business activities from
one location to another, or a fundamental reorganization that affects the nature of operations.

Restructuring charges may include costs associated with employee separations, contract termina-
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tions, and asset impairments. Expenses are recognized in the period in which the Bank commits
to a formalized restructuring plan or executes the specific actions contemplated in the plan and

all criteria for financial statement recognition have been met.

Note 14 describes the Bank’s restructuring initiatives and provides information about the costs
and liabilities associated with employee separations. Costs and liabilities associated with
enhanced pension benefits in connection with the restructuring activities for all of the Reserve
Banks are recorded on the books of the FRBNY.

u. Recently Issued Accounting Standards

In June 2009, FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards 166, Accounting for
Transfers of Financial Assets — an amendment to FASB Statement No. 140, (codified in ASC 860).
The new standard revises the criteria for recognizing transfers of financial assets as sales and clar-
ifies that the transferor must consider all arrangements when determining if the transferor has
surrendered control. The adoption of this accounting guidance was effective for the Bank for the
year beginning on January 1, 2010, and did not have a material effect on the Bank’s financial state-
ments.

In July 2010, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update 2010-20, Receivables (Topic 310),
which requires additional disclosures about the allowance for credit losses and the credit quality
of loan portfolios. The additional disclosures include a roll forward of the allowance for credit
losses on a disaggregated basis and more information, by type of receivable, on credit quality indi-
cators, including the amount of certain past due receivables and troubled debt restructurings and
significant purchases and sales. The adoption of this accounting guidance is effective for the Bank
on December 31, 2011, and is not expected to have a material effect on the BanKk’s financial state-
ments.

5. LOANS

The remaining maturity distribution of loans outstanding at December 31, 2010, and total loans

outstanding at December 31, 2009, were as follows (in millions):

2010 2009
Within 15
days Total Total
Primary, secondary, and seasonal credit $ 8 § 8 $ 28
TAF - - 214
Loans to depository institutions $ 8 § 8§ 3 242
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Loans to Depository Institutions

The Bank offers primary, secondary, and seasonal credit to eligible borrowers, and each program
has its own interest rate. Interest is accrued using the applicable interest rate established at least
every 14 days by the Bank’s board of directors, subject to review and determination by the Board
of Governors. Primary and secondary credit are extended on a short-term basis, typically

overnight, whereas seasonal credit may be extended for a period of up to nine months.

Primary, secondary, and seasonal credit lending is collateralized to the satisfaction of the Bank to
reduce credit risk. Assets eligible to collateralize these loans include consumer, business, and real
estate loans; Treasury securities; GSE debt securities; foreign sovereign debt; municipal, corpo-
rate, and state and local government obligations; asset-backed securities; corporate bonds; com-
mercial paper; and bank-issued assets, such as certificates of deposit, bank notes, and deposit
notes. Collateral is assigned a lending value that is deemed appropriate by the Bank, which is typ-
ically fair value reduced by a margin.

Depository institutions that are eligible to borrow under the Bank’s primary credit program were
eligible to participate in the TAF program. Under the TAF program, the Reserve Banks conduct-
ed auctions for a fixed amount of funds, with the interest rate determined by the auction process,
subject to a minimum bid rate. TAF loans were extended on a short-term basis, with terms rang-
ing from 28 to 84 days. All advances under the TAF program were collateralized to the satisfac-
tion of the Bank. All TAF loan principal and accrued interest was fully repaid.

Loans to depository institutions are monitored daily to ensure that borrowers continue to meet
eligibility requirements for these programs. The financial condition of borrowers is monitored by
the Bank and, if a borrower no longer qualifies for these programs, the Bank will generally request
full repayment of the outstanding loan or, for primary or seasonal credit lending, may convert the
loan to a secondary credit loan.

Collateral levels are reviewed daily against outstanding obligations and borrowers that no longer
have sufficient collateral to support outstanding loans are required to provide additional collater-
al or to make partial or full repayment.

Allowance for loan loss

At December 31, 2010 and 2009, the Bank did not have any impaired loans and no allowance for
loan losses was required. There were no impaired loans during the years ended December 31,
2010 and 2009.

6. TREASURY SECURITIES; GOVERNMENT-SPONSORED ENTERPRISE DEBT SECURITIES;
FEDERAL AGENCY AND GOVERNMENT-SPONSORED ENTERPRISE MORTGAGE-BACKED
SECURITIES; SECURITIES PURCHASED UNDER AGREEMENTS TO RESELL; SECURITIES
SoLD UNDER AGREEMENTS TO REPURCHASE; AND SECURITIES LENDING

The FRBNY, on behalf of the Reserve Banks, holds securities bought outright in the SOMA. The
Bank’s allocated share of SOMA balances was approximately 1.369 percent and 1.656 percent at
December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively.
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. Total
(Continued) Unamortized Unaccreted amortized
Par premiums  discounts cost Fair value

Bills $ 252§ - 8 - % 252 $ 252
Notes 10,586 192 (10) 10,768 11,016
Bonds 3,146 448 (8) 3,586 3,967

Total Treasury securities $ 13,984 $ 640 $ (18) $ 14,606 $ 15,235

GSE debt securities $ 2,018 $§ 76 $ - % 2094 $ 2146
Federal agency and
GSE MBS $ 13,582 S 193 $ (21) $ 13,754 $ 14,046

2009
Total
Unamortized Unaccreted amortized
Par premiums  discounts cost Fair value

Bills $ 305 $ - 5 - $ 305§ 305
Notes 9,409 108 (16) 9,501 9,652
Bonds 3,143 405 (11) 3,537 3,820

Total Treasury securities $ 12,857 $ 513§ (27) $ 13343 $ 13,777
GSE debt securities $ 2,647 $ 124 $ - $ 2,771 § 2,772
Federal agency and
GSE MBS $ 15038 § 201 $ (26) $ 15213 $ 15,136

The total of the Treasury securities, GSE debt securities, and Federal agency and GSE MBS, net,
excluding accrued interest, held in the SOMA at December 31 was as follows (in millions):

2010 2009
Amortized cost [fair value Amortized cost Fair value
Bills $ 18,422 $ 18,422 $ 18,423 § 18,422
Noles 786,575 804,703 573,876 583,041
Bonds 261,955 289,757 213,673 230,717

Tolal Treasury securities  $ 1,066,952 $ 1,112,882 $ 805,972 §$ 832,180

GSL debt securities $ 152,972 % 156,780 % 167,362 §$ 167,444

Federal agency and
GSE MBS $ 1,004,695 $ 1,026,003 $ 918,927 $ 914,290
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The fair value amounts in the above tables are presented solely for informational purposes.
Although the fair value of security holdings can be substantially greater than or less than the
recorded value at any point in time, these unrealized gains or losses have no effect on the ability
of the Reserve Banks, as the central bank, to meet their financial obligations and responsibilities.
The fair value of Federal agency and GSE MBS was determined using a model-based approach
that considers observable inputs for similar securities; fair value for all other SOMA security hold-

ings was determined by reference to quoted prices for identical securities.

The fair value of the fixed-rate Treasury securities, GSE debt securities, and Federal agency and
GSE MBS in the SOMA’ holdings is subject to market risk, arising from movements in market
variables, such as interest rates and securities prices. The fair value of Federal agency and GSE
MBS is also affected by the rate of prepayments of mortgage loans underlying the securities.

The following table provides additional information on the amortized cost and fair values of the
Federal agency and GSE MBS portfolio at December 31, 2010 and 2009 (in millions):

Distribution of MBS 2010 2009

holdings by coupon rate Amortized cost  Fair value = Amortized cost  Fair value

Allocated to the Bank:
3.5% $ 5% 5 % 6 8 6
4.0% 2,295 2,305 2,816 2,744
4.5% 6,813 6,965 7,191 7,146
5.0% 3,168 3,252 3,235 3,252
5.5% 1,275 1,313 1,712 1,731
6.0% 177 183 210 213
6.5% 21 23 43 4

Total $ 13,754 $ 14,046 $ 15213 $ 15,136

SOMA:
3.5% $ 341 $ 352§ 363 $ 365
4.0% 167,675 168,403 170,119 165,740
4.5% 497,672 508,798 434,352 431,646
5.0% 231,420 237,545 195,418 196,411
5.5% 93,119 95,873 103,379 104,583
6.0% 12,910 13,376 12,710 12,901
6.5% 1,558 1,656 2,586 2,644

Total $ 1,004,695 $ 1,026,003 $ 918,927 $ 914,290
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Financial information related to securities purchased under agreements to resell and securities sold

under agreements to repurchase for the years ended December 31, was as follows (in millions):

Allocated to the Bank:
Contract amount outstanding, end of year
Average daily amount outstanding,
during the year
Maximum balance outstanding, during the year
Securities pledged (par value), end of year

SOMA:
Contract amount outstanding, end of year
Average daily amount outstanding,
during the year
Maximum balance outstanding, during the year
Securities pledged (par value), end of year

Securities purchased
under agreements

Securities sold
under agreements

to resell to repurchase

2010 2009 2010 2009
$ - 8 - § 817 $ 1,287
- 68 848 1,172
- 1,510 1,287 1,690
597 1,289
$ - 8 - $59703 $ 77,732
3,616 58,476 67,837
- 80,000 77,732 89,525
43,642 77,860

The contract amounts for securities purchased under agreements to resell and securities sold

under agreements to repurchase approximate fair value. The FRBNY executes transactions for

the purchase of securities under agreements to resell primarily to temporarily add reserve bal-

ances to the banking system. Conversely, transactions to sell securities under agreements to

repurchase are executed primarily to temporarily drain reserve balances from the banking system.

The remaining maturity distribution of Treasury securities, GSE debt securities, Federal agency

and GSE MBS bought outright, and securities sold under agreements to repurchase that were allo-

cated to the Bank at December 31, 2010 was as follows (in millions):

16 days 91 Overl  Over5
Within to 90 daysto  yearto  yearsto

Over 10

15 days days lyear  Syears 10years  years Total

Treasury securities

(par value) $ 134 $ 340 S 743 $ 6,018 $ 4572 $ 2,177 $13,984
GSE debt securities

(par value) 16 189 390 972 419 32 2,018
Federal agency

and GSE MBS

(par value) - - - - - 13,582 13,582
Securities sold

under agreements

to repurchase

(contract amount) 817 - - - - R 817
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Federal agency and GSE MBS are reported at stated maturity in the table above. The estimated
weighted average life of these securities at December 31, 2010, which differs from the stated matu-
rity primarily because the weighted average life factors in prepayment assumptions, is approxi-

mately 4.2 years.

The par value of Treasury and GSE debt securities that were loaned from the SOMA at December

31, was as follows (in millions):

Allocated to the Bank SOMA
2010 2009 2010 2009
Treasury securities $ 302§ 340 $ 22,081 $ 20,502
GSE debt securities 22 18 1,610 1,108

Other liabilities, which are related to purchases of Federal agency and GSE MBS, arise from the
failure of a seller to deliver securities to the FRBNY on the settlement date. Although the Bank
has ownership of and records its investments in the MBS as of the contractual settlement date, it
is not obligated to make payment until the securities are delivered, and the amount reported as
other liabilities represents the Bank's obligation to pay for the securities when delivered. The
amount of other liabilities allocated to the Bank and held in the SOMA at December 31, was as

follows (in millions):

Allocated to the Bank SOMA

2010 2009 2010 2009
Other liabilities $ - 5 10 $ - 5 601

The FRBNY enters into commitments to buy Treasury and GSE debt securities and records the
related securities on a settlement-date basis. There were no commitments to buy Treasury and
GSE debt securities as of December 31, 2010.

The FRBNY enters into commitments to buy Federal agency and GSE MBS and records the relat-
ed MBS on a settlement-date basis. There were no commitments to buy or sell Federal agency or
GSE MBS as of December 31, 2010.

During the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009, the Reserve Banks recorded net gains from
dollar roll and coupon swap related transactions of $782 million and $879 million, respectively, of
which $12 million and $14 million, respectively, was allocated to the Bank. These net gains are
reported as “Non-interest income: Federal agency and government-sponsored enterprise mort-
gage-backed securities gains, net” in the Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income.
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7. FOREIGN CURRENCY DENOMINATED ASSETS

The FRBNY holds foreign currency deposits with foreign central banks and the Bank for
International Settlements and invests in foreign government debt instruments. These foreign
government debt instruments are guaranteed as to principal and interest by the issuing foreign
governments. In addition, the FRBNY enters into transactions to purchase Euro-denominated
government debt securities under agreements to resell for which the accepted collateral is the debt
instruments issued by the governments of Belgium, France, Germany, Italy, the Netherlands, and
Spain.

The Bank’s allocated share of foreign currency denominated assets was approximately 2.777 per-

cent and 1.539 percent at December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively.

The Bank’s allocated share of foreign currency denominated assets, including accrued interest,
valued at amortized cost and foreign currency market exchange rates at December 31, was as fol-

lows (in millions):

2010 2009
Euro:
Foreign currency deposits $ 196 $ 114
Securities purchased under agreements to resell 68 40
Government debt instruments 128 76
Japanese yen:
Foreign currency deposits 108 52
Government debt instruments 223 107
Total allocated to the Bank $ 723§ 389

At December 31, 2010 and 2009, the fair value of foreign currency denominated assets, including
accrued interest, allocated to the Bank was $728 million and $392 million, respectively. The fair
value of government debt instruments was determined by reference to quoted prices for identical
securities. The cost basis of foreign currency deposits and securities purchased under agreements
to resell, adjusted for accrued interest, approximates fair value. Similar to the Treasury securities,
GSE debt securities, and Federal agency and GSE MBS discussed in Note 6, unrealized gains or
losses have no effect on the ability of a Reserve Bank, as the central bank, to meet its financial obli-

gations and responsibilities. The fair value is presented solely for informational purposes.

Total Reserve Bank foreign currency denominated assets were $26,049 million and $25,272 mil-
lion at December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively. At December 31, 2010 and 2009, the fair value
of the total Reserve Bank foreign currency denominated assets, including accrued interest, was
$26,213 million and $25,480 million, respectively.
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The remaining maturity distribution of foreign currency denominated assets that were allocated

to the Bank at December 31, 2010, was as follows (in millions):

Over 1 Total
Within 15 16 days 91 days yearto5 allocated
days to 90 days to 1 year years  tothe Bank

Euro $ 151 $ 83 § 56 $ 102§ 392
Japanese yen 113 16 68 134 331
Total allocated to the Bank $ 264 $ 99 § 124 § 236 $ 723

At December 31, 2010 and 2009, the authorized warehousing facility was $5 billion, with no bal-

ance outstanding.

There were no transactions related to the authorized reciprocal currency arrangements with the
Bank of Canada and the Bank of Mexico during the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009.

There were no foreign exchange contracts outstanding as of December 31, 2010.

The FRBNY enters into commitments to buy foreign government debt instruments and records
the related securities on a settlement-date basis. As of December 31, 2010, there were $209 mil-
lion of outstanding commitments to purchase Euro-denominated government debt instruments,
of which $6 million was allocated to the Bank. These securities settled on January 4, 2011, and
replaced Euro-denominated government debt instruments held in the SOMA that matured on
that date.

In connection with its foreign currency activities, the FRBNY may enter into transactions that are
subject to varying degrees of off-balance-sheet market risk and counterparty credit risk that result
from their future settlement. The FRBNY controls these risks by obtaining credit approvals,
establishing transaction limits, receiving collateral in some cases, and performing daily monitor-

ing procedures.
8. CENTRAL BANK LIQUIDITY SWAPS

U.S. Dollar Liquidity Swaps

The Bank’s allocated share of U.S. dollar liquidity swaps was approximately 2.777 percent and
1.539 percent at December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively.

The total foreign currency held under U.S. dollar liquidity swaps in the SOMA at December 31,
2010 and 2009, was $75 million and $10,272 million, respectively, of which $2 million and $158

million, respectively, was allocated to the Bank.

The U.SS. dollar liquidity swaps outstanding at December 31, 2010 were transacted with the
European Central Bank and had remaining maturity distributions of less than 15 days.
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Foreign Currency Liquidity Swaps

There were no transactions related to the foreign currency liquidity swaps during the years ended
December 31, 2010 and 2009.

9. BANK PREMISES, EQUIPMENT, AND SOFTWARE

Bank premises and equipment at December 31 were as follows (in millions):

2010 2009

Bank premises and equipment:
Land and land improvements $ 19 § 19
Buildings 118 118
Building machinery and equipment 16 16
Furniture and equipment 25 24
Subtotal 178 177
Accumulated appreciation (62) (57)
Bank premises and equipment, net $ 116§ 120
Depreciation expense, for the years ended December 31 $ 6 $ 6

The Bank leases space to outside tenants with remaining lease terms ranging from two to five
years. Rental income from such leases was $378 thousand and $288 thousand for the years ended
December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively, and is reported as a component of “Other income” in
the Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income. Future minimum lease payments that the
Bank will receive under noncancelable lease agreements in existence at December 31, 2010 are as
follows (in thousands):

2011 $ 309
2012 311
2013 265
2014 221
2015 129

Total $ 1,235

The Bank had capitalized software assets, net of amortization, of $17 million and $11 million at
December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively. Amortization expense was $2 million for the years
ended December 31, 2010 and 2009. Capitalized software assets are reported as a component of
“Other assets” in the Statements of Condition and the related amortization is reported as a com-

ponent of “Operating expenses: Other” in the Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income.



Federal Reserve Bank
of Minneapolis

Notes to
Financial Statements
(Continued)

10. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Conducting its operations, the Bank enters into contractual commitments, normally with fixed

expiration dates or termination provisions, at specific rates and for specific purposes.

At December 31, 2010, the Bank was obligated under noncancelable leases for premises and
equipment with remaining terms ranging from two to approximately three years. These leases
provide for increased rental payments based upon increases in real estate taxes, operating costs,
or selected price indices.

Rental expense under operating leases for certain operating facilities, warehouses, and data pro-
cessing and office equipment (including taxes, insurance, and maintenance when included in
rent), net of sublease rentals, was $280 thousand and $272 thousand for the years ended
December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively.

Future minimum rental payments under noncancelable operating leases, net of sublease rentals,

with remaining terms of one year or more, at December 31, 2010, were not material.

At December 31, 2010, there were no material unrecorded unconditional purchase commitments
or obligations in excess of one year.

Under the Insurance Agreement of the Federal Reserve Banks, each of the Reserve Banks has
agreed to bear, on a per incident basis, a share of certain losses in excess of 1 percent of the capi-
tal paid-in of the claiming Reserve Bank, up to 50 percent of the total capital paid-in of all Reserve
Banks. Losses are borne in the ratio of a Reserve BanK’s capital paid-in to the total capital paid-
in of all Reserve Banks at the beginning of the calendar year in which the loss is shared. No claims

were outstanding under the agreement at December 31, 2010 or 2009.

The Bank is involved in certain legal actions and claims arising in the ordinary course of business.
Although it is difficult to predict the ultimate outcome of these actions, in management’s opinion,
based on discussions with counsel, the aforementioned litigation and claims will be resolved with-

out material adverse effect on the financial position or results of operations of the Bank.

11. RETIREMENT AND THRIFT PLANS
Retirement Plans

The Bank currently offers three defined benefit retirement plans to its employees, based on length
of service and level of compensation. Substantially all of the employees of the Reserve Banks,
Board of Governors, and Office of Employee Benefits of the Federal Reserve System (OEB) par-
ticipate in the Retirement Plan for Employees of the Federal Reserve System (System Plan). In
addition, employees at certain compensation levels participate in the Benefit Equalization
Retirement Plan (BEP) and certain Reserve Bank officers participate in the Supplemental
Retirement Plan for Select Officers of the Federal Reserve Bank (SERP). In addition, under the
Dodd-Frank Act, employees of the Bureau can elect to participate in the System Plan. There were

no Bureau participants in the System Plan as of December 31, 2010.
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The System Plan provides retirement benefits to employees of the Federal Reserve Banks, Board
of Governors, and OEB and in the future will provide retirement benefits to certain employees of
the Bureau. The FRBNY, on behalf of the System, recognizes the net asset or net liability and costs
associated with the System Plan in its consolidated financial statements. During the years ended
December 31, 2010 and 2009, costs associated with the System Plan were not reimbursed by other

participating employers.

The BanK’s projected benefit obligation, funded status, and net pension expenses for the BEP and
the SERP at December 31, 2010 and 2009, and for the years then ended, were not material.

Thrift Plan

Employees of the Bank participate in the defined contribution Thrift Plan for Employees of the
Federal Reserve System (Thrift Plan). The Bank matches employee contributions based on a
specified formula. Effective April 1, 2009, the Bank matches 100 percent of the first 6 percent of
employee contributions from the date of hire and provides an automatic employer contribution
of 1 percent of eligible pay. For the first three months of the year ended December 31, 2009, the
Bank matched 80 percent of the first 6 percent of employee contributions for employees with less
than five years of service and 100 percent of the first 6 percent of employee contributions for
employees with five or more years of service. The Bank’s Thrift Plan contributions totaled $4 mil-
lion for the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009, and are reported as a component of

“Salaries and benefits” in the Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income.

12. POSTRETIREMENT BENEFITS OTHER THAN RETIREMENT PLANS AND
POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS

Postretirement Benefits Other Than Retirement Plans

In addition to the Bank’s retirement plans, employees who have met certain age and length-of-
service requirements are eligible for both medical benefits and life insurance coverage during

retirement.

The Bank funds benefits payable under the medical and life insurance plans as due and, accord-

ingly, has no plan assets.

Following is a reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances of the benefit obligation (in

millions):
2010 2009

Accumulated postretirement benefit obligation at January 1 $ 614 $ 54.3
Service cost benefits earned during the period 2.8 2.3
Interest cost on accumulated benefit obligation 3.6 3.4
Net actuarial (gain) loss (1.8) 3.0
Contributions by plan participants 0.7 0.6
Benefits paid (3.7) (2.8)
Medicare Part D subsidies 0.2 0.2
Plan amendments - 0.4

Accumulated postretirement benefit obligation at December 31§ 632 § 61.4
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At December 31, 2010 and 2009, the weighted-average discount rate assumptions used in devel-

oping the postretirement benefit obligation were 5.25 percent and 5.75 percent, respectively.

Discount rates reflect yields available on high-quality corporate bonds that would generate the
cash flows necessary to pay the plan’s benefits when due.

Following is a reconciliation of the beginning and ending balance of the plan assets, the unfund-
ed postretirement benefit obligation, and the accrued postretirement benefit costs (in millions):

2010 2009

Fair value of plan assets at January 1 $ -8 -
Contributions by the employer 2.8 2.0
Contributions by plan participants 0.7 0.6
Benefits paid (3.7) (2.8)
Medicare Part D subsidies 0.2 0.2

Fair value of plan assets at December 31 $ - $ -
Unfunded obligation and accrued postretirement benefit cost $ 63.2 § 61.4

Amounts included in accumulated other comprehensive loss are shown below:

Prior service cost $ 06 § 1.5
Net actuarial loss (8.3) (10.6)
Total accumulated other comprehensive loss $ (7.7) $ (9.1)

Accrued postretirement benefit costs are reported as a component of “Accrued benefit costs” in
the Statements of Condition.

For measurement purposes, the assumed health care cost trend rates at December 31 are as fol-
lows:

2010 2009
Health care cost trend rate assumed for next year 8.00% 7.50%
Rate to which the cost trend rate is assumed to decline
(the ultimate trend rate) 5.00% 5.00%
Year that the rate reaches the ultimate trend rate 2017 2015

Assumed health care cost trend rates have a significant effect on the amounts reported for health
care plans. A 1 percentage point change in assumed health care cost trend rates would have the
following effects for the year ended December 31, 2010 (in millions):

1 percentage 1 percentage

point point
increase decrease
Effect on aggregate of service and interest cost components
of net periodic postretirement benefit costs $ 11§ (0.9)
Effect on accumulated postretirement benefit obligation 8.0 (6.7)
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The following is a summary of the components of net periodic postretirement benefit expense for

the years ended December 31 (in millions):

2010 2009
Service cost-benefits earned during the period $ 28 $ 2.3
Interest cost on accumulated benefit obligation 3.6 34
Amortization of prior service cost (0.9) (0.9)
Amortization of net actuarial loss 0.5 0.6
Total periodic expense 6.0 5.4
Curtailment gain - (0.2)
Net periodic postretirement benefit expense $ 6.0 $ 5.2

Estimated amounts that will be amortized from accumulated other comprehensive loss into net

periodic postretirement benefit expense in 2011 are shown below:

Post service cost $ (0.4)
Net actuarial loss 0.2
Total $ (0.2)

Net postretirement benefit costs are actuarially determined using a January 1 measurement date.
At January 1, 2010 and 2009, the weighted-average discount rate assumptions used to determine
net periodic postretirement benefit costs were 5.75 percent and 6.00 percent, respectively.

Net periodic postretirement benefit expense is reported as a component of “Salaries and benefits”

in the Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income.

Net curtailment gains associated with restructuring programs that are described in Note 14 were
recognized in net income in the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008, related to employees
who terminated employment during those years. A deferred curtailment gain was recorded in
2007 as a component of accumulated other comprehensive loss; the gain was recognized in net
income in 2009 and 2008 when the related employees terminated employment.

The Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003 established a pre-
scription drug benefit under Medicare (Medicare Part D) and a federal subsidy to sponsors of
retiree health care benefit plans that provide benefits that are at least actuarially equivalent to
Medicare Part D. The benefits provided under the BanK’s plan to certain participants are at least
actuarially equivalent to the Medicare Part D prescription drug benefit. The estimated effects of
the subsidy are reflected in actuarial loss in the accumulated postretirement benefit obligation and
net periodic postretirement benefit expense.

Federal Medicare Part D subsidy receipts were $169 thousand and $234 thousand in the years
ended December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively. Expected receipts in 2011, related to benefits
paid in the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009, are $76 thousand.
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Following is a summary of expected postretirement benefit payments (in millions):

Without subsidy With subsidy

2011 $ 3.2 $ 2.9
2012 34 3.2
2013 3.6 34
2014 3.8 3.5
2015 4.0 3.7
2016 - 2029 249 22.7

Total $ 429 $ 39.4

Postemployment Benefits

The Bank offers benefits to former or inactive employees. Postemployment benefit costs are actu-
arially determined using a December 31 measurement date and include the cost of medical and
dental insurance, survivor income, and disability benefits. The accrued postemployment benefit
costs recognized by the Bank at December 31, 2010 and 2009 were $4 million and $5 million,
respectively. This cost is included as a component of “Accrued benefit costs” in the Statements of
Condition. Net periodic postemployment benefit expense included in 2010 and 2009 operating
expenses were $139 thousand and $932 thousand, respectively, and are recorded as a component
of “Salaries and benefits” in the Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income.

13. ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Following is a reconciliation of beginning and ending balances of accumulated other comprehen-
sive loss (in millions):

Amount related to
postretirement
benefits other than
retirement plans

Balance at January 1, 2009 $ (5.2)
Change in funded status of benefit plans:
Prior service costs arising during the year (0.4)
Net actuarial loss arising during the year (3.0)
Amortization of prior service cost (0.9)
Amortization of net actuarial loss 0.6
Amortization of deferred curtailment gain (0.2)
Change in funded status of benefit plans - other comprehensive loss (3.9)
Balance at December 31, 2009 $ (9.1)
Change in funded status of benefit plans:
Net actuarial gain arising during the year 1.8
Amortization of prior service cost (0.9)
Amortization of net actuarial loss 0.5
Change in funded status of benefit plans - other comprehensive loss 1.4
Balance at December 31, 2010 $ (7.7)
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Additional detail regarding the classification of accumulated other comprehensive loss is includ-
ed in Note 12.

14. BUSINESS RESTRUCTURING CHARGES
The Bank had no business restructuring charges in 2010.

In 2009, the Bank incurred restructuring charges due to reduced check support functions as a
result of declining check processing volumes. In addition, the Financial Services Policy
Committee Support Office was transferred from the Bank to the Federal Reserve Bank of
Cleveland.

Before 2009, the Reserve Banks announced the acceleration of their check restructuring initiatives
to align the check processing infrastructure and operations with declining check processing vol-
umes. The new infrastructure consolidated operations into two regional Reserve Bank process-
ing sites; one in Cleveland, for paper check processing, and one in Atlanta, for electronic check
processing. Additional announcements prior to 2009 included restructuring plans associated with
the U.S. Treasury operations.

Following is a summary of financial information related to the restructuring plans (in thousands):

2009 2008 and prior
restructuring restructuring
plans plans Total

Information related to restructuring
plans as of December 31, 2010:

Total expected costs related to

restructuring activity $ 167 $ 5,557 § 5,724
Estimated future costs related to

restructuring activity - 2 2
Expected completion date 2010 2010

Reconciliation of liability balances:

Balance at January 1, 2009 $ - $ 4,417 $ 4,417
Employee separation costs 242 77 319
Adjustments - (251) (251)
Payments (71) (3,071) (3,142)

Balance at December 31, 2009 $ 171 § 1,172 § 1,343
Employee separation costs 13 36 49
Adjustments (88) (395) (483)
Payments (96) (694) (790)

Balance at December 31, 2010 $ - 8 119 § 119
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Employee separation costs are primarily severance costs for identified staff reductions associated
with the announced restructuring plans. Separation costs that are provided under terms of ongo-
ing benefit arrangements are recorded based on the accumulated benefit earned by the employee.
Separation costs that are provided under the terms of one-time benefit arrangements are general-
ly measured based on the expected benefit as of the termination date and recorded ratably over
the period to termination. Restructuring costs related to employee separations are reported as a
component of “Salaries and benefits” in the Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income.

Adjustments to the accrued liability are primarily due to changes in the estimated restructuring
costs and are shown as a component of the appropriate expense category in the Statements of

Income and Comprehensive Income.

15. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

There were no subsequent events that require adjustments to or disclosures in the financial state-
ments as of December 31, 2010. Subsequent events were evaluated through March 22, 2011,
which is the date that the Bank issued the financial statements.
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